/)

> © Global Dairy Holdings Limited

oD w| SUZ 450 Al I\ =
ERIAZERSRAT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESEE MK 7.2 BRI E])
Stock Code B 13% : 01007

BIFHED

/

Lag

_.

WWWAAA PN d




Contents

H &%

Corporate Information A &) & #}

Corporate Profile 2 &) f& /7

Financial Summary 871 7% #f 2

Chairman’s Statement ¥ & & =

Management Discussion and Analysis & I [& 5 3@ B2 2 #ff

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EELEAEEERE

T

Report of the Directors & E & ¥ %4

~

Corporate Governance Report 1 % & &

R

H
of

Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 37 #% B bl & =

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 43 & & mE W #5 &

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4% & B 7% Ak 0 &%

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 43 & i 25 # &)X

&=

bl

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #: & IR & %

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B4 7 f = M 3+

11

16

34

41

55

65

67

68

70

72

74



Global Dairy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

Corporate Information

AREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen (Chairman)

Mr. Zhao Yu (Chief executive officer)

Mr. Xia Yuan Jun (Deputy chief executive officer)
Mr. Fu Chong (Chief operations officer)

Mr. Fong Pin Jan (Chief financial officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander

Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman

Mr. Zhang Zhou

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander

Mr. Zhang Zhou

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Zhou (Chairman)

Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander

Mr. Zhao Yu

Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman

Mr. Zhang Zhou

Mr. Zhao Yu

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Wing Yan, Acis, ACS

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Fong Pin Jan
Ms. Ho Wing Yan, Acrs, ACS

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Exg

BITES
HBEXEE(EE)
BFEE(BEHNTE)

BERXERE(FEREHTE)

NWELE(EEZLEE)

NREXRE(EEHMFE)

BYFHTES
REBERE
REFHLL
SRAFSEAE

BEREEE
REG L+ (EE)
RRBEEE

RA S

FWEEE
TA A (ER)
GEds
FEE KL
Wk
WXk

REZES
TR ()
R L+

RA L
LA

NEWE
I3k IR & £, Acis, Acs

REARR
TRELE
I3k IR &%, Acis, Acs

at i I = e

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands



HEADQUARTERS IN CHINA

18 Kilometer An Sa Road

Daging High-Tech Industrial Development Zone
Daging City

Heilongjiang Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

HONG KONG
35th floor, Bank of China Tower
1 Garden Road
Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Long Jiang Bank, Daging Development Zone Branch
China Construction Bank, Daging branch

Credit Suisse AG

Credit Suisse AG, Hong Kong Branch

LEGAL ADVISERS

Stephenson Harwood (as to Hong Kong law)
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP (as to US law)
Jingtian & Gongcheng (as to PRC law)

Loo & Partners LLP (as to Singapore law)

Conyers Dill & Pearman (as to Cayman Islands law)

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Quam Capital Limited

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

A E 4

A

EEIE

ANE™
AESHBEMEXRAER
ZERISRER

BREITBRERME

BB

IR
ASEERLH
iR KE35E

FETRET
BEIHRITAEMEE ST
FREERBITRESTT
Credit Suisse AG

Credit Suisse AG, FH& D17

EEER
BREEEMEBH(EEZZ)

VA B B E T (EE L)
BRI E P (P EDE )

& B AR BB (B0 5% % )

Conyers Dill & Pearman (57 £ Z & % #)

EREM
EERALEREERAR

¥ B R

REeMERT GETENTT



Global Dairy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

Corporate Information
NAEH

SHARE REGISTRARS

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

LISTING EXCHANGE INFORMATION

Place of Listing
Main Board, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code
1007

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.global-dairy.com.cn

I & &

FTERODBFERE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

ERRSERLE
EEPREFELBERAA
e

B AT
EERERISIHR
AR AL

17181712-1716 %

EHRAMER
LB
ERBARSHBRAFER
B 15

1007

D E Ak

www.global-dairy.com.cn



We are one of the top ten local brand milk powder companies
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) market. We are
principally engaged in the production, marketing, and sale of
medium-to-high and premium-priced milk formula products in
China. Our dairy products are classified into the following two
main categories:

o milk formula products; and
o whole milk powder products.

Our milk formula products and whole milk powder products
include a full range for infants and children. Our infant and
paediatric milk formula products aim to supply the balanced
nutrition that an infant or a child needs in his or her first few
months and throughout the various stages of childhood growth
and development. In addition, we have milk formula products
fortified with various vitamins and essential minerals that aim to
provide supplements in meeting special nutritional requirements
for older children, adults, the elderly, pregnant and lactating
women. Directors (the “Directors”) of Global Dairy Holdings
Limited (“Global Dairy” or the “Company”) believe that our
broad range of products enables us to better target consumers
across different income groups with different product value
propositions, thereby satisfying their particular needs.

Our main product category, milk formula products, comprises the
Shi Jia Brand L ANAC 75 #3545 £ 51|, the Emilon Brand % 3 %42 75 4
#3 %% and the Daging Brand X B & 77 93 #3 & 51|. The products
in our Shi Jia Brand are designed for consumers of premium-priced
milk formula products which are suitable for infants and children at
different growth stages as well as post-natal women. We aim to
target our Shi Jia Brand at consumers in second and third tier
municipalities, particularly eastern coastal cities of the PRC. The
products in our Emilon Brand are designed for consumers of
medium-to-high priced milk formula products catering for the
changing nutritional needs of growing infants and children. We aim
to target our Emilon Brand at consumers in second and third tier
municipalities. The products in our Daging Milk Formula Brand are
designed for consumers of low-to-medium priced milk formula
products suitable for children, adults and the elderly. We aim to
target our Daging Milk Formula Brand at consumers in villages and
counties near second and third tier municipalities. Our whole milk
powder products are sold under the brand X E & “Daqging”. In
addition, we produce a variety of ice cream products under our
own brand E %L “Qingru” with over 10 flavours.
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We mainly sell our milk formula products and whole milk
powder products through an extensive network of over 140
distributors in China which are independent third parties. Our
distributors sell our milk formula products and whole milk
powder products to their sub-distributors or directly to retail
outlets, such as department stores, shopping malls, supermarkets,
and children’s and parenting specialty stores, in 21 provinces and
Chongging municipality. We have non-exclusive agreements with
all of our current distributors. These agreements are generally
for a term of one year. Our Directors have confirmed that a
majority of our current distributors with whom we have entered
into the distribution agreements are privately-owned entities. In
general, we require our distributors to pay the full purchase
price before we deliver our products to them. Our distributors
are only permitted to sell our milk formula products and whole
milk powder products in their designated distribution areas
under the distribution agreements. We monitor and ensure,
through our district sales managers for each geographical region,
that our distributors do not compete in the same designated
distribution areas. If any of our distributors is in breach of the
above term of the distribution agreements, we have the right to
terminate the relevant distribution agreement. We also sell our
milk formula products and Daging sweetened whole milk powder
directly to supermarkets, and other retail chain stores in Daging
municipality and other customers who purchase from us on an
ad hoc basis, and our whole milk powder (packaged in 25 kg
bags) directly to our customers such as food processing
enterprises. We intend to continue selling our milk formula
products and whole milk powder products in Heilongjiang
province through our distributors and by way of direct sale, and
in areas outside Heilongjiang province through our distributors.
For each of the financial years ended 31 December 2009 and 31
December 2010, approximately 69.1% and 85.5% of our sales,
respectively, were made to our distributors. We sell our ice
cream products directly to retail outlets in Daging municipality
and the areas which are in close proximity to Daging
municipality.
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According to the report dated 7 October 2010 prepared by
Euromonitor International Limited in relation to milk powder
market in the PRC (the “Euromonitor International Report”), we
ranked ninth among the local brand owners in the baby milk
powder and other milk powder market in China with a 1.5% of
market share and 15th among the brand owners in the milk
powder market in China (which comprised both foreign and local
brand owners) with a 1.5% of market share in terms of sales
value in 2009.

As at 31 December 2010, the shareholding structure of the
Company and its subsidiaries was as follows:
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Mr. Zhao Yu (“Mr. Zhao”) is the beneficial owner of 557,172,000 #F A ([# &4 ) A AR 7[)557,172,0008% A%
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), representing approximately 7 ([P DN BEREAA  ZROEARFD
55.1% of the issued share capital of the Company. BT AN 4955.1% ©



A summary of results and assets and liabilities of the Company

is as following:
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Financial Summary

YR

ApRFREMEERREOBZNT

RESULTS -
For the
period from
8 October 2007
to
31 December
Year ended 31 December 2007
BE+-A=+—HLEE —ETLF
+ANBZE
+=—A=+—H
2010 2009 2008 HAF
—E-ZF ZZ2TNF ZZTITENF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBETIT ARBETT ARBT T
Revenue W #= 921,886 510,035 197,369 —
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (443,655)  (274,137)  (110,357) —
Gross profit EH 478,231 235,898 87,012 —
Other gains and losses HEip Wz &8 (968) 6,797 7,039 —
Selling and distribution expenses & & Fi &% (44,276) (18,934) (5,627) —
Administrative expenses THHEX (51,717) (19,134) (9,000) —
Finance costs M ER (14,672) (9,258) (1,423) —
Profit before taxation B B A1 5 A 366,598 195,369 78,001 —
Income tax expenses Fris &M X (106,010) (61,900) (23,866) —
Profit and total comprehensive FAE T &
income for the year 2H Y =B 260,588 133,469 54,135 —
Earnings per share BRAN
— Basis (RMB) — ER(ARE) 0.333 0.242 0.098 —
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Financial Summary

YR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Current assets
Current liabilities

Net current assets (liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Shareholders’ equity

The financial information for the year ended 31 December 2007,
31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 was extracted from

FRBDEE

mBEE
mBARE

HRBEE(RE)FHE

REERRBDARE

FRBARE

BEFH

P R A &

the Company’s prospectus dated 15 October 2010.

EERAME
2010 2009 2008 2007
—2-%F “TTAF —FTT\F —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMTR ARBTE ARSTE ARBTR
580,321 596,738 401,803 —
1,302,001 233,473 129,152 23
(168,356)  (503,841) (457,973) (23)
1,133,645 (270,368) (328,821) —
1,713,966 326,370 72,982 —
(122,960) (23,898) (18,847) —
1,591,006 302,472 54,135 —
1,591,006 302,472 54,135 —

BE-TT+LE+-A=+—0 —FTTNF
+=A=t+-BR-BEAFT-A=+—H
LFEHBERBEAANANA-T—F
F+ATERZBRELR -



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Global
Dairy Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2010 (the
Year”).

“Review

PUBLIC LISTING

2010 marks a development milestone for the Group. With the
joint effort of all parties, the Group was successfully listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) on 28 October 2010. This allows the
Group to successfully access international capital markets in
order to strengthen its financial position, to significantly enhance
its corporate image, as well as to further capture the enormous
opportunities of the Chinese dairy market.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2010, China's economy maintained sustainable growth, while
accelerated urbanization and increasing disposable income per
capita promoted continuous improvement of the macro business
environment in the domestic dairy industry. However, the
incidences of hormone-tainted milk formula products posed
serious threats to Chinese dairy companies, and as a result
reduced consumption demand for Chinese branded milk
products, and further initiated another round of consolidation in
the industry. During the Review Year, although the Chinese dairy
industry faced various challenges, by leveraging on a diverse
product range, strong brand recognition and active marketing
strategies, the Group successfully maintained strong growth from
its outstanding 2009 results. In 2010, the Group recorded a
turnover of RMB921.9 million, an increase of approximately
80.8% as compared to approximately RMB510.0 million last year;
and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) of approximately RMB260.6 million, representing
a significant increase of 95.2% as compared to approximately
RMB 133.5 million last year. Basic earnings per share was
approximately RMBO0.333. Specifically, sales and gross margin of
formula milk products reached RMB851.8 million and 55.5%
respectively, becoming the major driving force behind the strong
growth of the Group’s business.
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To ensure the stable development of China’s dairy industry, the
Central Government has issued several policies during the Review
Year. Through production licensing reviews, companies that have
small operational scale, unqualified production conditions or
weak quality assurance are expected to be eliminated in order to
promote industry consolidation, and to gradually enhance
consumer confidence in Chinese dairy brands. With numerous
policies from the Central Government regulating small and
medium enterprises and supporting industry consolidation, the
industry will be able to maintain its upward trend of sustainable
development. As one of the top local formula milk product
brand names in China, Global Dairy possesses a range of
renowned and reputable brands, and a diverse series of
products. With stringent quality control processes, our products
have been well-known and trusted for having a high level of
hygiene and safety standards. Together with rising consumer
confidence in cost-effective domestic dairy brands, our
competitive advantages will provide tremendous support and
impetus to the sustainable development of the Group.

With effective product positioning and strong brand recognition,
the Group has expanded its market share in the second and
third tier markets during the Review Year through its extensive
distribution network composed of over 140 direct distributors in
21 provinces and one municipality, as well as retail outlets such
as department stores, children’s and parenting specialty stores
and maternity stores in China, to establish a more competitive
strategic distribution model. In addition, targeting the market of
premium-priced milk formula products, the Group has introduced
high margin products in the first half of 2010, which provide
balanced nutrition to post-natal women and babies in different
ages, and has further increased the Group’s presence in the
target market. With strong brand recognition, successful strategic
market allocation and sales strategy, “Shi Jia” series products
have been well received by the market since its introduction,
building a solid foundation for sustainable business development.
In the future, the Group will continue to target the needs of
niche markets and to develop and launch new products in a
timely manner to further consolidate its leading market position
in a highly fragmented market and to continuously improve
business performance.
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During the Review Year, through upgrading production
equipment and construction of new plants, the Group continued
to significantly increase the total designed production capacity of
formula milk products and whole milk powder products to
approximately 20,000 tons per annum, when our newly
completed plant in Wuchang City is put into operations, this will
further increase our production capacity to approximately 30,000
tons per annum and will accordingly help to increase market
penetration rate, and capture any lucrative opportunities from
accelerating industry integration and rising demand for quality
dairy products.

Reliable and stable supply of quality milk from upstream sources
is critical to our business, which also helps in maintaining the
long-term sustainable and stable development of China’s dairy
industry. During the Review Year, the Group expanded its
upstream business pursuant to the use of proceeds as stated
during the public listing in Hong Kong, to steadily realize its
long-term development strategy of vertical integration. Located
between 43-53 degrees north latitude, the world’s dairy belt
region, Heilongjiang Province is China’s second largest milk
producing region with fertile grasslands. The Group has entered
into a framework agreement with the People’s Government of
Wuchang Municipality, Heilongjiang Province on 3 November
2010, for the construction of an upstream high-quality eco-
friendly dairy farm. By capturing the business opportunities
arising from a lack of large-scaled high-quality dairy farms, the
Group will become the only vertically integrated dairy enterprise
listed in Hong Kong, and further ensure a stable supply of
quality milk to strengthen its competitive advantages in both
pricing and sales, as well as continuously promote business
development.

With the persistent hard work of its strong workforce, Global
Dairy recorded improving results in a year full of challenges. As
one of the top ten local formula milk product brand names,
Global Dairy has renowned dairy brands with a long history,
diverse product range and a vertically integrated business model.
Through top quality milk source supplies and stringent quality
control processes, Global Dairy has been maintaining a first-class
track record since its establishment 40 years ago, with which its
products have been well-known for a high level of hygiene and
safety standards. In the future, the Company will continuously
expand its nationwide production capacity allocation, actively
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develop medium-to-high range products, build up an upstream
production base for quality milk, strive to realize its long-term
development strategy of vertical integration and become one of
the most competitive milk product manufacturing companies in
China.

PROSPECTS

As the global economy is gradually recovering and China’s
economy is expected to maintain its strong growth momentum,
it is optimistic that the operating environment will continue to
improve in the coming year. Driven by increasing urbanization,
increasing per capita income from urban and rural households
the purchasing power for quality brand-name milk products is
also rising. Market demand for quality brand-name milk products
in second and third tier markets is expected to remain strong.

The Central Government has introduced a number of measures
conducive to industry consolidation in the second half of 2010,
which has laid a solid foundation for the sustainable and stable
development of the Chinese dairy industry, and has provided a
good environment for the growth of brand-name dairy
producers. In the future, the Group will continue to improve its
nationwide strategic allocation of its distribution network, and
through effective product positioning and market strategies of
its “Daqing”, “Emilon” and “Shi Jia" series, grasp the business
opportunities arising from industry consolidation to improve the
Group’s profitability, and to promote sustainable and stable
business development. In addition, the Group also plans to
strengthen brand name recognition through various marketing
campaigns and direct marketing programs, and to steadily
expand the coverage of our distribution channels, so as to offer
impetus to future business development.

Benefiting from a favorable economic environment and
advantageous government policies, our management team will
continue to realize the long-term development strategy of
integration, as to capture the enormous
opportunities arising from industry consolidation through the
continuous improvement of our distribution network and the
development of medium-to-high priced milk products, to deliver
even better results in 2011.
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Looking forward, the Group will remain committed to the
highest product quality, continuously enhance its corporate
image. Moreover, Global Dairy will aim at becoming the most
competitive milk product manufacturing companies in China,
realizing steady development in China’s growing dairy market
and bringing satisfactory returns to Shareholders.

Chairman
Zhao Chuan Wen

Hong Kong, 16 March 2011
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Growth in distribution network

The Group's sales expansion mainly comes from the growth of
its distribution network. The number of distributors grew from
67 in 2009 to over 140 direct distributors in 2010. The strategy
of using a direct single tier distribution model with effect from
2009, paid off as the percentage of revenue contributed by
distributors increased from 69.1% in 2009 to 85.5% in 2010.
This strategy allows channel profits to be shared by fewer
participants thereby increasing the motivation of distributors and
their channels to promote our products.

The Group has distribution presence in 21 provinces and one
municipality in the PRC. Our distributors are typically responsible
for sales in the cities in which they are located in their
immediate neighbouring cities. As such, the growth in our
distribution network comes from securing committed distributors
in more cities across the PRC. The revenue growth in 2010
remains broad based, with the top five distributors accounting
for approximately 7.2% (2009: approximately 12.0%) of total
revenue.

New products

During the Review Year, the Group launched a new brand of
formula milk powder under the Shi Jia brand name during the
second quarter. The Shi Jia brand has two series, a premium
paediatric milk formula for babies and a premium post natal milk
formula for mothers. Shi Jia brand has achieved revenues of
RMB43.4 million (or 4.7% of total revenue) in its first year of
launch. In the coming vyear, the Group will leverage on its
previous expertise in developing new brands like Emilon (launched
in 2007 and is the major contributor to revenue at present) to
further refine the brand and sales strategy of Shi Jia brand in
the coming years.
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The Group also introduced a new series under our Emilon brand
known as “Youzhi” during the second quarter of 2010. The
Youzhi series is currently the most competitively priced product
in the Emilon brand and this will allow the Group to compete
with smaller regional competitors more effectively especially in
third tier and below cities. Emilon Youzhi series achieved
revenues of RMB140.2 million (or 15.2% of total revenue) in its
first year of launch.

With a view to increase margins and compensate for increase in
raw materials costs, the Group has also began the process of
repackaging some of our products, changing the formulation
and re-launching them. One key example is the rebranding of
our sweetened whole milk powder to the Daging Traditional
Milk Powder that comes in convenient 25 gram sachets and that
contains lower level of sugar to target health conscious
consumers, launched in November 2010.

Vertical integration upstream

As part of the overall strategy to contain costs and reclaim
margins in raw milk production currently enjoyed by our
suppliers, the Group has commenced the development of dairy
farms as disclosed in the Company’s prospectus (the
“Prospectus”). The Group established a new wholly owned
subsidiary, Wuchang Benniu Muye Co., Ltd (A E B4 W EABR
A7) ("Wuchang Benniu”), to develop and operate the Wuchang
farm. The progress of the Wuchang farm is on track and upon
completion in early 2012, will comprise 10,000 heads of dairy
cows that can yield approximately 42,000 tonnes of raw milk
per annum.
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Brand performance

The performance of the various brands of milk powder sold by
the Group are analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 Dec 2010
BE-Z-Z5+-H=Z+-BHLEE

fm M R B

AEBEHENSENHRENRRINAOT

Year ended 31 Dec 2009
BE-_ZTAF+-A=+t-HLEFE

Revenue ASP GM% Revenue ASP GM%
Uy FHEE EXNE% I &= THERB  EANE%
RMB’000 % RMB/kg %  RMB'000 % RMB/kg %

AR®/ ARY/

AR TR % Af ARETT N
Whole milk powder EERuR) 48,320 5.2% 24.5 3.6% 61,671 12.1% 21.8 18.4%

Formula milk powder B 7 38

— Daging series — RE R 161,422 17.5% 36.0 33.8% 122,936 24.1% 30.9 39.0%
— Emilon series — BX4EZRS| 647,028 70.2% 71.5 59.8% 308,669 60.5% 78.6 59.3%
— Shi Jia series — EmR3 43,395 4.7% 152.5 71.8% — — — —
Total milk powder JURE ST 900,165 97.6% 57.0 52.7% 493,276 96.7% 459 49.1%

Whole milk powder

The whole milk powder business lines comprise mainly industrial
whole milk powder in 25kg packaging that we sell to other
dairy producers as well as sweetened whole milk powder for
general purpose use that we sell to consumers through our
distribution network and retail chain stores. Revenues from
whole milk powder declined from RMB61.7 million in 2009 to
RMB48.3 million in 2010 and its contribution to overall revenue
fell from 12.1% in 2009 to 5.2% in 2010. This product segment
commands the lowest margins among all our offerings and we
typically produce whole milk powder for sale only when we have
excess capacity and raw milk supplies. The increase in average
selling price (“ASP") from RMB21.8/kg in 2009 to RMB24.5/kg in
2010 is not sufficient to offset the increase in price of raw milk,
resulting in gross margin (“"GM") erosion from 18.4% in 2009 to
3.6% in 2010.
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Formula milk powder — Daging

The revenue from the sales of Daging series, Formula milk under
our Daging Brand, increased from RMB122.9 million in 2009 to
RMB161.4 million in 2010. During the year under review, ASP
increased from RMB30.9/kg in 2009 to RMB36.0/kg in 2010 as a
result of price adjustments. However, the price increase is not
sufficient to totally offset the increase in the raw material costs
resulting in a decline in gross margins from 39.0% in 2009 to
33.8% in 2010. Daging series is targeted at the lower middle
income tier consumers and is the most price sensitive brand in
our line up. As such, management emphasis more on developing
our higher margin brands of Emilon and Shi lJia, resulting in the
increase of revenue contribution by these brands (in aggregate)
from 60.5% in 2009 to 74.9% in 2010.

Formula milk powder — Emilon

The Emilon brand of formula comprises three series of baby
formula milk with different price points targeted at different
consumer groups as well as different geographical markets with
different levels of disposable income. Together these series give
the Group depth in its product offerings, enabling the Group to
compete more effectively against smaller regional competitors.

Revenue from sales of Emilon increased from RMB308.7 million
in 2009 to RMB647.0 million in 2010. The growth in Emilon
series is mainly a result of the following factors:

a) expansion of our distribution network, especially in areas
outside of the north-eastern provinces where the Emilon
brand is more popular;

b)  success of our product strategy and positioning of our
Emilon brand; and

Q) the launch of our Youzhi series during the second quarter
of 2010. Youzhi series is currently the most competitively
priced product in the Emilon brand and this will allow the
Group to compete with smaller regional competitors more
effectively especially in third tier and below cities. Emilon
Youzhi series achieved revenues of RMB140.2 million (or
15.2% of total revenue) in its first year of launch.
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The launch of Youzhi series has effectively reduced the ASP of
the Emilon brand as a whole from RMB78.6/kg in 2009 to
RMB71.5/kg in 2010 due to its lower selling prices. However,
gross margins have increased from 59.3% in 2009 to 59.8% in
2010. This is mainly due to upward price adjustments as well as
the fact that raw milk constitutes only 30% of the total cost of
production of the Emilon brand as compared to approximately
50% and 80% for the Daging brand and whole milk powder
products, respectively.

Formula milk powder — Shi Jia

The Shi Jia brand performed to the management’s expectations,
achieving revenues of RMB43.4 million (or 4.7% of total revenue)
in its first year of launch. Shi Jia brand currently has the highest
ASP of RMB152.5/kg and as well as gross margins of 71.8%.
Given its product price point, Shi Jia brand is targeted at our
premium consumers in the markets we operate in as well as in
key second tier and coastal cities with higher disposable
incomes.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Our year ended 31 December 2010 compared to our
year ended 31 December 2009

Revenue

Our revenue increased by 80.8% from RMB510.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB921.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2010. The increase in our revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2010 was driven by a strong growth in
our milk formula products across all ranges of our milk formula
products by RMB420.2 million and the sales growth of our ice
cream products by RMB5.0 million, which was offset by a
decline of RMB13.4 million in our whole milk products.

The growth in revenue for the year ended 31 December 2010 is
mainly due to the following factors:

a) the growth in our distribution network from 67 in 2009 to
over 140 direct distributors in 2010;

b) launch of new products like the Youzhi series under our
Emilon brand and Shi Jia brand formula milk powder and
post natal mother milk powder. These new products
contribute RMB183.7 million in revenue or 20% of total
revenue in 2010; and

¢)  the removal of capacity constrains faced in 2009 with the
commencement of operations of our new 300 ton daily
raw milk processing plant in Daging.

The increase in revenue demonstrates the success of our product
strategy as well as validated the effectiveness of our distribution
model and brand building efforts through targeted advertising
on China Central Television (“CCTV").
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Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased by RMB169.6 million or 61.9% from
RMB274.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB443.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2010. The
increase in our cost of sales for the year ended 31 December
2010 was lower than the increase in sales for the same period.
This was mainly due to the change in product mix in favour of
higher margin milk formula products such as our Emilon series
and Shi Jia series, which resulted in a lower cost of sales
incurred per dollar of sales.

Gross profits

Our gross profits increased by RMB242.3 million or 102.7% from
RMB235.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB478.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2010. Our
gross profit margins increased from 46.3% in the year ended 31
December 2009 to 51.9% in the year ended 31 December 2010
primarily due to the introduction of our Shi lJia series with
relatively higher gross profit margin of 71.8% and the shift in
our product series mix in favour of the higher gross profit
margin milk formula products (Emilon series and Shi Jia series)
from 60.5% of revenue as at 31 December 2009 to 74.9% of
revenue as at 31 December 2010.

Other gains and losses

Our other losses for the year ended 31 December 2010
amounted to RMB1.0 million which comprised exchange losses
of RMB1.3 million arising from exchange losses on a foreign
currency denominated loan owing to Pre-IPO Investors that was
repaid during the year and bank balances held in foreign
currency, loss of disposal of property plant and equipment of
RMBO0.6 million, offset by interest income of RMB1.0 million.
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Selling and distribution expenses

Details of selling and distribution expenses are:

HER i
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HERDHMAXAALT:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

BE-ZT-T5 HEZZTZTILF

+=—Z—A=+—HA +=-—A=+—H

IEFE IEEE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AR F T

Staff and welfare cost EI&?E?'JEXZF 4,031 2,079
Freight and insurance BB RRE 6,774 3,465
Advertising and promotion EERHEE 28,490 11,422
Others Hb 4,981 1,968
44,276 18,934

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by RMB25.4
million or 134.4% from RMB18.9 million in the year ended 31
December 2009 to RMB44.3 million in the year ended 31
December 2010. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
advertising and promotional expenses by RMB17.1 million as a
result of the conduct of an advertising and marketing campaign
on CCTV to increase brand awareness and to attract more
potential distributors to our network. In addition, our staff and
welfare cost increased by RMB2.0 million as we increased head
counts to cater for the expansion of our distribution network
and freight and insurance cost by RMB3.3 million as a result of
increased revenues.
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Administrative expenses THERFES
Details of administration expenses are: THRAXBEENT:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
BHE-Z-Z HEZZTZLF
+=—H=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
IEFE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBTT
Staff and welfare cost BT KkiEF KA 7,981 5,629
Depreciation e 5,297 3,462
Property usage taxes EL R 4,774 2,259
Amortisation of trademarks 72 15 4 55 1,520 1,520
Professional fees related HEREEERENEXEER
to the global offering 21,570 —
Others H 10,575 6,264
51,717 19,134

Our administrative expenses increased by RMB32.6 million or
170.7% from RMB19.1 million in the year ended 31 December
2009 to RMB51.7 million in the year ended 31 December 2010.
The increase was primarily due to the professional fees incurred
in respect of the global offering exercise in October 2010
amounting to RMB21.6 million as well as the increase in
administration staff costs, depreciation and additional property
usage tax arising from Daging Dairy amounting to RMB2.4
million, RMB1.8 million and RMB2.5 million, respectively.

Finance cost

Our finance cost increased by RMB5.4 million or 58.1% from
RMB9.3 million in the year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB14.7 million in the year ended 31 December 2010. The
increase was mainly due to increase in interest on loan from
Pre-IPO Investors amounting to RMB8.9 million, offset by a
decrease in the interest on bank borrowings as a result of lower
outstanding bank loan balances in 2010 as compared to 2009.
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Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased by 71.2% from RMB61.9
million for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB106.0 million for the financial year ended 31 December
2010. This increase was primarily due to an increase in profit,
which was partially offset by a decrease in the effective tax rate
from 31.7% to 28.9% from the financial year ended 31
December 2009 to the financial year ended 31 December 2010
due to the fact that no provision was made for withholding tax
on potential dividend distribution to its offshore holding
company as management has decided to retain undistributed
profits for the year ended 31 December 2010 for the purpose of
expanding the business.

Profit for the year

Our profit for the year increased by 95.2% from RMB133.5
million for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB260.6 million for the financial year ended 31 December
2010, as a result of the factors discussed above, and net profit
margin increased from 26.2% to 28.3%. Our Directors consider
that our net profit margin is relatively high as a result of our
ability to effectively control our selling and distribution costs as
well as administrative costs.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2010, except for the Group
reorganisation for the preparation of listing as described in the
Prospectus and the incorporation of Wuchang Benniu with
registered capital of RMB5.0 million, there were no material
investments and acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group intends to explore investment opportunities to
commence the development of the second phase of our vertical
integration plan that should see the Group achieve self
sufficiency in raw milk supplies. As at the date of this report,
we have not entered into any legally binding agreement or
arrangement with respect to the upward integration
opportunities mentioned above. The Group will make appropriate
announcements on its plans as and when such plans materialise.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

LIQUIDITY AND

As at 31 December 2010, the net assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB1,591.0 million (2009: approximately
RMB302.4 million); the current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB1,302.0 million (2009: approximately
RMB233.5 million), of which approximately RMB1,265.2 million
(2009: approximately RMB184.0 million) were cash and bank
deposits.

The Group usually applies its cash flows generated internally to
meet its operational needs. Following the fund raising of the
global offering in October 2010, the Group has sufficient
financial resources and liquidity that are sufficient to meet its
daily business operations and future development.

As at 31 December 2010, there are no pledges on any of its
assets of the Group.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company’s capital structure only comprises ordinary shares.
The movements in the Company’s authorised and issued ordinary
share capital during the period between 15 October 2009 (date
of incorporation) and 31 December 2010 are as follows:

(@

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
15 October 2009 with an authorised share capital of
HK$380,000, divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the Company. On the date of
incorporation, one share of HK$0.01 was allotted and
issued fully paid at par to a third party, which was
subsequently transferred to Mr. Zhao.

On 15 October 2009, Mr Zhao transferred his 100%
shareholding in Global Milk Singapore to the Company
pursuant to a share sale and purchase agreement dated
the same date in consideration of the Company issuing
550 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company,
credited as fully paid, to Mr. Zhao.

On 18 November 2009, Mr Zhao transferred an aggregate
of 57 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company to
Kenmoore Mezza9 Ltd. pursuant to a share transfer
agreement dated 1 November 2009.

On 3 February 2010, each ordinary share of HK$0.01 in
the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
was subdivided into 1,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001
such that its resultant authorised share capital was
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.00001 each and its resultant issued share capital
was HK$5.51 divided into 551,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.00001 each in the Company.

On 4 February 2010, pursuant to an investment agreement
dated 20 November 2009 entered into among certain
investors (the “Pre-IPO Investors”), Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen,
Mr. Zhao and the Company, the Company issued an
aggregate of 127,829 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each
in the Company to the Pre-IPO Investors, for a
consideration of S$21.0 million (equivalent to
RMB102,275,000).
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Pursuant to a share subscription agreement dated 20
November 2009 entered into between the Company and
Mr. Zhao, on 4 February 2010, the Company issued an
aggregate of 63,171 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each
to Mr. Zhao, for a consideration of RMB125,000,000.

On 24 March 2010, pursuant to a second series funding
agreement entered into between, among others, the
Company and the Pre-IPO Investors, the Company issued
an aggregate of 15,879 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001
each to the Pre-IPO Investors for a consideration of $$5.25
million (equivalent to RMB25,505,000).

Pursuant to the written resolutions of all shareholders
entitled to vote at general meetings of the Company, which
were passed on 10 October 2010, an amount of
approximately HK$7,571.22 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company was capitalised
and applied to pay up in full at par a total of 757,122,121
new ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each for allotment and
issue to the shareholders of the Company whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company on 9
October 2010 and details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Further Information about the Group —
Written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 10
October 2010” in Appendix VI “Statutory and General
Information” to the Prospectus.

On 28 October 2010, the Company issued 252,620,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each at issue price of
HK$4.39 per ordinary share pursuant to the listing of the
Company’s shares.

All of the ordinary shares issued by the Company during the
period subsequent to the date of incorporation of the Company
rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all
respects.
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GEARING RATIO

liabilities
(20009:

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's current
amounted to approximately RMB168.4 million
approximately RMB503.8 million).

The net assets value per share of the Group was approximately
RMB1.57 per share as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
approximately RMBO.55 per share). The net asset value per share
was computed based on 1,010,500,000 ordinary shares (2009:
551,000,727 shares) in issue as at 31 December 2010.

The Group's current ratio was approximately 7.7 (2009:
approximately 0.5). Our gearing is computed based on total
interest bearing indebtedness over total assets. The gearing ratio
as at 31 December 2010 was approximately 5.3% (2009:
approximately 36.4%) which was mainly due to bank borrowings
of RMB100.0 million (2009: RMB302.3 million).

INTEREST AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group did not
have debt obligations with floating interest rates (2009: nil).
Accordingly, the Group had no significant interest rate risk.

Substantially all of the Group’s businesses are denominated in
RMB, which is the Group’s functional currency. As at 31
December 2010, the Group had bank balances of RMB9.9 million
(2009: nil) denominated in HK$.

CREDIT RISK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and closely monitors the collection to
minimise credit risk. As the Group’s risk exposure spreads over a
diversified portfolio of customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, other receivables and other financial assets, represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's other financial assets.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had the following capital
commitments:

i

R-ZZE—ZTE+-_A=+—RH HxEEBEHNUT
B AR AHE

31 December 31 December

2010 2009
—E-=F ZEENF
+=BA=+—~H +=-A=+—~”
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR AR¥ET T
Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition BEEUWEH ¥ « BB L& E
of property, plant and equipment &R
— contracted for but not provided in — BEINEREE MR
the consolidated financial statements R R EBE 11,189 10,297
— authorised for but not contracted — EEBEERETL
for 298,580 —
Total st 309,769 10,297

On 19 November 2010, the Company made the following
announcement that the Board has resolved on 18 November
2010 to approve, inter alia, the investment in and construction
of a dairy farm (the “Group’s Dairy Farm”) by Changqing Dairy,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in Erhe
Township which is approximately 30 km north-east of Wuchang
City centre, Heilongjiang Province, the PRC (the “Project”).

The Company will use approximately HK$350.9 million of the
net proceeds from the global offering to fund the Project which
will comprise approximately RMB300 million for the acquisition
of the land use rights of the requisite parcel of land (including
fees payable for the grant of permission to occupy such land),
the construction of the Group’s Dairy Farm and the purchase of
dairy cows. The Group will also invest approximately RMB40
million for the construction of a bio-organic fertilizers and bio-
gas power generation facility for the Group’s Dairy Farm.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2010,
contingent liabilities (2009: nil).

the Group had no significant
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USE OF PROCEEDS FrEeZERAR
RZE—ZFTF+-_A=+—H8 ARAIEEK
BEFEENNFBRESAEBODBAR
HINARBT EEBEABERFNSA
Hets o SRR BRA

As at 31 December 2010, the balance of the net proceeds of
the fund raising by the Company in the global offering
amounted to approximately RMB791.4 million were totally placed
with reputable financial institutions for interest income.

The Group intends to use these net proceeds for the following ZAEBEFRZEMESREEAT AR :

puUrposes:
Use of proceeds Allocated Utilised Balance
FEREARE =Rl =Rl =Rl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®Tn AR%®TR AR¥Tx
1) Approximately 34.7% will be used 1) #I34.7% # B 1E
for implementing our expansion plans BERANREH
on investments upstream in cattle BEFEHSED
farms and acquisitions of related BERITE KRB
production equipment and facilities; HEEERBR
B 308,841 (4,600) 304,241
2)  Approximately 25.5% will be used for 2)  #925.5% # A {E
reinforcing and expanding of our me REREARR
distribution network; EIESECE R R 226,959 — 226,959
3)  Approximately 20.4% will be used for 3)  #920.4% # A 1
advertising, marketing and promotion RBERFERD
of existing and new products; BSOS E
hEME: 181,567 (12,140) 169,427
4)  Approximately 9.2% for repayment of 4)  #92%EE B X
loan extended by the Pre-IPO NHEBEEIRE
Investors to our Company (which is HERARBED
referred to as the Second Loan in the B E ®x(E B K
sub-section headed “Investment in BERIFEL BH
the Company prior to the Global REEEE]
Offering” in the section headed [2IREERNA
“History, Reorganisation and Group RNEWRE &
Structure” in the Prospectus) and the FrilME_—Z£E
interests accrued thereon; H)RZEFRM
ZE MR B 81,883 (81,883) —
5)  Approximately 10.2% will be used for 5)  #910.2% #% /B {E
working capital and other general EEEeRHEM
corporate purposes NE—MAS 90,784 — 90,784
Total Bt 890,034 (98,623) 791,411

The Directors do not anticipate any change to its plan on the

use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus.

% 3 R 3R AR AR A 2 B 48 BB
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group employed 545 (2009: 430)
employees. The increase in the number of employees was due to
the expansion of the Group’s business to cope with business
promotion and market exploration. The salary levels of employees
are determined by their performance, qualifications, experience
and contribution to the Group with reference to general market
trend.

The total employee expenses of the Group including Directors’
remuneration charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2010
amounted to approximately RMB16.7 million (2009: approximately
RMB8.4 million). The increase in total employee expenses was
due to the increase in employees and salary increments adjusted
in accordance with labour market trend.

PROSPECTS

Subsequent to the Melamine incident in 2008, the PRC
government has introduced a number of regulations and
measures which are aimed at controlling and improving food
safety in the dairy products industry and for the purpose of
regaining the confidence of consumers. In addition, the
government has also introduced new production licensing
requirements to drive consolidation within the dairy industry as
well as introduced favourable incentives to encourage upstream
integration among dairy producers. We believe these measures
are favourable to the development of the industry in general
and the Group in particular.

The Group has a successful track record in launching new
products in the past and will continue to do so in order to
increase our products’ appeal across all segments of our target
market. We have also increased our selling prices of our
products to offset the consequences brought by the increase in
the cost of the raw materials in early 2011. This should help us
mitigate the effects from inflationary pressures expected in 2011.
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Our growth in 2011 will be driven by the expansion of our
distribution network via the selection and appointment of
committed distributors in cities where we do not yet have a
presence, with special emphasis on our key markets of 2nd tier,
3rd tier and below cities. For the Shi Jia brand, we have
deployed a task force made up of experienced sales personnel
to explore non traditional distribution channels within the 2nd
tier cities and wealthy coastal cities on the eastern seaboard,
building upon our initial success in penetrating several 2nd tier
cities in 2010.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Zhao Chuan Wen (#{&3X) (“Mr. Zhao CW"), aged 57, was
appointed as our executive Director and Chairman on 10
October 2010. He is responsible for formulating the Group’s
business strategies. Mr. Zhao CW has been Daging Dairy’'s
honorary director since June 2006 and has played a pivotal role
in the growth and expansion of Daging Dairy over the years. He
indirectly owns a controlling stake in Sino Construction Limited
("Sino Construction”), a Singapore-listed company, and he is the
legal representative and sole director of its subsidiaries, namely
ABERERZEZELEBR AR (Daging City Dazheng Building
Installation Co., Ltd.*), Kﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂi (Daging
City Baixinyuan Concrete Products Co., Ltd.*) and X & 2R 12 58
ZHEBR AT (Da Qing Xinyuan Construction Planning Co.,
Ltd.*). He stepped down from the position as the chief executive
officer of Sino Construction in April 2010. In addition, he is also
the legal representative and the sole director of KEMAXIEE
i E B % & PR 2 7 (Daging City Dazheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.*), a company involved in the real estate
business in Daging. Mr. Zhao CW graduated from X B £ 5 2 B
(Daging Petroleum Institute*) (now known as it A JHAE
(Northeast Petroleum University)) majoring in Civil Construction
on 15 July 1979. Mr. Zhao CW is the father of Mr. Zhao Yu. He
serves as the executive chairman of Sino Construction which was
listed on the official list of the Singapore Exchange Limited on
12 June 2008.

Zhao Yu (BF) (“Mr. Zhao"), aged 25, was appointed as a
Director on 15 October 2009 and he is our executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company, responsible for
executing the overall business strategies, facilitating business
development and managing the operations of the Group. He has
been with the Group since October 2007 and he is currently the
sole executive director and legal representative of Daqing Dairy
and Changqging Dairy, since December 2009 and November
2009, respectively and he is, according to PRC laws and
regulations, the highest executive authority of these two
companies. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao was the chief
executive officer of E/BBRESHER QA (Shanghai Teng
Yuan Advertising Co., Ltd.*) (“Shanghai Teng Yuan”) between
August 2007 and May 2008. During his prior appointment with
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Shanghai Teng Yuan, Mr. Zhao was responsible for the overall
operational and business strategies and for overseeing the
operations of this company. Shanghai Teng Yuan was engaged
in the advertising and promotion business in the PRC. Mr. Zhao
is the son of Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen.

Xia Yuan Jun (E T &) (“"Mr. Xia"), aged 47, was appointed as
our executive Director and deputy chief executive officer of the
Company on 10 October 2010. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing product development as well as assisting chief
executive officer of the Company in executing the overall
business strategies, facilitating business development, and
managing the operations of the Group. Mr. Xia joined the Group
in March 2008 as Daqing Dairy’s general manager, a position he
currently holds. He was also appointed, at the time of its
establishment, and still is the general manager of Changging
Dairy. Mr. Xia is a senior food engineer (R &= & TI2E0). He
graduated from FRILBI 4 KZE (Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics) with an executive master of business
administration (S REEABIEEEE L) in January 2007
He has approximately 22 years of experience in the dairy
industry. He was the deputy general manager of BfET & TiE
WWELZE R M AR QA (Heilongjiang Wondersun Dairy Co., Ltd*),
a dairy company in the PRC between July 1987 and June 2004.
From June 2004 till March 2008, he was the deputy general
manager of AL R B EWR KB MR 2 7 (Xi'an Yingiao
Biological Science and Technology Co. Ltd), also a dairy company
in the PRC.

Fu Chong (f+#) (“Mr. Fu"), aged 45, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief operations officer of the Company
on 10 October 2010. He is primarily responsible for the overall
operations, strategic and business development of the Group. He
graduated from KW & & Ab & KX 2 (Inner Mongolia Normal
University) with a master of science degree on 9 June 1990 and
a Bachelor of Science degree on 10 July 1987. Mr. Fu joined the
Group in July 2009 as an assistant general manager of the
strategic planning of Daging Dairy prior to his appointment as
our Director. During his term with ARG R EEXEERHA
R A7) (Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd.), a dairy
company in the PRC, from July 1995 to July 2005, Mr. Fu held
various managerial positions including general manager of
development department, general manager of information centre,
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chief information officer, general manager of the group’s key
customers, assistant general manager of its sales centre and
member of the group’s strategies management committee.

Fong Pin Jan (5 X #) ("Mr. Fong”), aged 37, was appointed
as our executive Director and chief financial officer of the
Company on 10 October 2010. He is primarily responsible for
the overall financial affairs and management of the Group,
including financial reporting and internal controls, strategic
review of potential investments, corporate finance and fund
raising and tax structuring. Mr. Fong is also a director of the
Singapore subsidiary of the Company, Global Milk Singapore
since 30 June 2009. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fong was
appointed as the chief financial officer of Sino Construction
between July 2009 and April 2010. Between October 2007 and
December 2008, Mr. Fong was the chief financial officer of # K
(fBE)BEE%E BB 2A7A (Chiaus (Fujian) Industrial Development
Co., Ltd.), a company incorporated in the PRC. From July 1998
to September 2007, Mr. Fong was employed as a professional
auditor in Ernst & Young. He was also the senior manager in
Ernst & Young's IPO team. He graduated from Nanyang
Technological University in Singapore with a degree of bachelor
of accountancy (second class honours (upper division)) on 4 July
1998 and is a member of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore. Mr. Fong serves as a non-executive
director of Sino Construction, which was listed on the official list
of the Singapore Exchange Limited, on 23 April 2010.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (&2 §£) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged
45, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
10 October 2010. He is currently a Barrister practising in Hong
Kong. He has over 20 vyears of experience in corporate
governance, auditing, tax planning and compliance. He is a
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, a Chartered
Accountant of New Zealand and a member of The Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants. He holds a professional
diploma in company secretaryship and administration from Hong
Kong Polytechnic, a master and a bachelor degree of laws from
the University of New England, Australia.

Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive director of
Asia Silk Holdings Limited (stock code: 5GP) from February 2007
till August 2010. He currently serves as the lead independent
director and audit committee’s chairman of Combine Will
International Holdings Limited (stock code: F4l). Both Asia Silk
Holdings Limited and Combine Will International Holdings Limited
are companies listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited.

Chan Wah Man Carman (FRZE #) (“Ms. Chan"), aged 42, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 10
October 2010. Ms. Chan graduated from Bemidji State University
in the State of Minnesota, the United States with a degree of
bachelor of science in August 1993 and obtained a degree of
master of accounting from Curtin University of Technology,
Australia in February 2000. She is also a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified
Practising Accountant in Australia. Ms. Chan has over 17 years
of experience in private equity, corporate finance and financial
advisory. She is licensed to conduct Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the SFO. Between March 1998 and August 2001,
she was an assistant director at Baring Capital (China)
Management Limited, ING Group and between January 2002
and December 2003, she was an associate director at Suez Asia
(Hong Kong) Limited. From January 2004 until January 2008, she
was employed in various companies involving in fund raising
activities and assisted these companies in the preparation of
initial public offerings. From February 2008 to April 2009, she
was an associate director at Rabobank International Hong Kong
Branch, handling mergers and acquisitions and corporate advisory

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

BYFHTES

RB®([REE]) 455 RZT—ZTF+H
THEZARBIYHTEST HERBAE
BHEKRNEM - FREEER B BB
HEIRGHRTEBEA20FKR - FAE B
I HERESTS +Eﬂ5&¢%é¢’&u7€\2
M AEgE RBEAAEBRIZERNA
M\E&ﬁﬂlﬁﬁX%&md\\%ﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁ%
(University of New England, Australia)#) %28
TEMNREBLEA

REFEBEELE_AZ_ZE-ZTFNAE
fEAsia Silk Holdings Limited (Hxﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁ : 5GP)
BB IEBMITESE o %I E#E Combine Will
International Holdings Limited (A% 3 X 5% : F4l)
NFEFEBITEEREZEZEGEF © Asia Silk
Holdings Limited &2 Combine Will International
Holdings Limited ¥ I ETINE B H R H AT LT o

RES(RLL)D 2% R_Z—ZF+A
TEEZERBUFATES REHFRL

—hWN=FNAEXRNEEREHEMNBKRS
M 37 K2 (Bemidji State University) * BX /5 I8 £
BraEag TRZZEZZF-ARBRMNATZE
fl # KB (Curtin University of Technology)® &t
BrEM -FHRAEESTMAEEERR
MAESH - RZEITRAAKRE ER
BRUVBHATEAREBITEER - BRE
AR EGAFCHEGAERMERHMER R
FORHRHEEEBR)IRETINERA -
— WA NF=ZRAZZZZ—F\A - BRING
% E B N #YBaring Capital (China) Management
Limited T BN BESE - —TET_F—HAZ_F
T=F+=ZH %% BSuez Asia (Hong Kong)
LimitedBlEF - —TZTEMF-—AE_T jJ\i
—A EXERERULEEELTFTIHND
BZERATEEHEERNAAREE - = ?%)\i
ZRAEZZETAEOA  BREHEEBRER
TEENTREES CREZRHBRLE

37



38

Global Dairy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

deals. She is currently the head of private equity department at
Wallbanck Brothers Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. Ms. Chan is
an independent non-executive director of Man Wah Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01999), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Zhang Zhou (3R &), aged 47, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2010. Mr. Zhang graduated
from Jt R EM&EI K2 (Beijing Normal University) with a bachelor
degree in economics in July 1985 and obtained a master degree
in economics from 18 B K& (Fudan University) in July 1994. He
is an associate professor specialising in international trade and
finance. From July 1985 until July 2002, he was a lecturer and an
associate professor at WEH A2 & EE I 2P (School of
Economics and Management, Inner Mongolia University). Since
August 2002, Mr. Zhang has been an associate professor at "5
BT % KE(EH) (Harbin Institute of Technology at Weihai)
where he speaks on, among other subjects, marketing, brand
strategy management, advertising, relationship marketing and
integrated marketing communications. From April 2004 to April
2005, Mr. Zhang was employed as the general manager of brand
management department at REHFFEXEERHERAF
(Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd.).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ma Zhan Jun (5 &%), aged 36, is the financial controller of
Daqging Dairy primarily responsible for managing the financial
operations of Daging Dairy. He joined the Group in October
1996 after he graduated from fE R H7 T £ B3 (Jiamusi Institute of
Technology*) majoring in accounting on 10 July 1996.

Du Wei (#:{&) (“Mr. Du"”), aged 38, is Daging Dairy's assistant
general manager (sales and logistics) and primarily responsible
for managing the sales and logistics operations of Daging Dairy.
He joined our Group in January 1996. Mr. Du graduated from
REBEETZER (Harbin Party School of The Communist
Party of China*) majoring in economic management on 10
January 2000.

Zhang Bing (3R ££), aged 40, is currently the assistant general
manager (production) of Daging Dairy's production department
and is primarily responsible for managing our Daging production
facilities. He joined our Group in March 2009 as the deputy
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assistant general manager of Daging Dairy’s production
department before his promotion to his current position in
September 2009. He received tertiary education from fEARET™H
% & B T K2 (Jiamusi Employee University*) in disciplines
relating to Food Engineering between September 1990 and July
1993. He has over eight years of experience in the dairy
industry. Prior to joining the Group, he held management
positions at various dairy products companies. From February
2001 until January 2007, he was the manager of the production
department at BT E TE LI ERHBR AR (Heilongjiang
Wondersun Dairy Co., Ltd*). Between February 2007 and August
2007, he was employed as consultant at FEETREXER LS
B R A7 (Shanghai Denton Management Consultancy Ltd*)
where he was responsible for providing consultancy services in
relation to dairy production. From September 2007 until
December 2008, he was the manager of HEEFIEBETIH A
7] (Yashily Group Longjiang Branch¥).

Shi Ji Yu (R# %) (“Mr. Shi"), aged 40, Daging Dairy's assistant
general manager (purchasing) and primarily responsible for
managing the raw material purchasing and milk procurement
operations of Daging Dairy. Between August 2008 and October
2009, he was also the assistant general manager of Changging
Dairy. Mr. Shi joined the Group in August 2006. He received
tertiary education from KX E B T KX 2 (Daqing Employee
University*) in disciplines relating to mining machinery between
August 1993 and July 1996. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked at X BE AR S UER M (Fourth Oil Production Factory
of Daging Qil Field*) from 1999 to 2006.

Gao Feng (S I#) (“Mr. Gao”), aged 46, is an executive officer
of the Group primarily responsible for developing the dairy farm
business. He joined the Group in March 2010. Mr. Gao is a
senior veterinarian. He received tertiary education from E#&ET N\
— B 2B K 2 (Heilongjiang Bayi Agricultural University) in
disciplines relating to veterinary. He also completed an advanced
livestock management training at the same university in
December 1994. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Gao held
various positions as veterinarian, head of cattle production and
head of animal husbandry in B3I E/\H——&% (Heilongjiang
Province 8511 Farm*) in China between August 1981 and
December 1994. From January 1995 to November 1996, he was
the assistant head of the cattle farm with B#2/TE M 445
(Heilongjiang Province Heping Farm*) and head of the dairy
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factory of BFEIEAMFZ MM (Heillongjiang Province Heping
Dairy Factory*). In April 1997, Mr. Gao was also appointed as
assistant head of EHTIE/\A/\EH (Heilongjiang Province
858 Farm*). Thereafter, Mr. Gao was a general manager at B3
I 2 R % E LM E B R A A (Heilongjiang Agricultural
Wondersun Livestock Co., Ltd.*), a subsidiary of EBFETEE L
M5B FL AR A Al (Heilongjiang Wondersun Harbin Dairy Co.,
Ltd*), a dairy company in the PRC. In that capacity, Mr. Gao was
charged with the management and the day to day operations of
2EITELTELKREER AT (Heilongjiang Agricultural
Wondersun Livestock Co., Ltd.*), which is responsible for the
establishment and management of cattle farms, the production
and supply of raw milk and cattle feed for the group of
companies of EBEITEILMRMEIRERAF (Heilongjiang
Wondersun Harbin Dairy Co., Ltd*).

Zhao Jin Xiang (B £ %), aged 39, is the deputy assistant
general manager of Daging Dairy’s production department
primarily responsible for assisting our assistant general manager
of production department in formulating production plan and
managing the production. He has been with our Group since
December 1989. Between September 1993 and July 1997, he
studied at E#)L K2 (Heilongjiang University) and majored in
Economic Management.

* An asterisk following an English name denotes that the English name is for
identification purpose only.
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2010.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
KONG

IN HONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is 35th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Central,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is engaged in the
production, marketing, and sale of medium-to-high and
premium-priced milk formula products in China. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 67.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s top five customers accounted for approximately
7.3% (2009: approximately 16.2%) of the total sales. The top
five suppliers accounted for approximately 39.7% (2009:
approximately 46.3%) of the total purchases for the year. In
addition, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
approximately 1.6% (2009: approximately 4.0%) of the total
sales and the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 16.3% (2009: approximately 13.6%) of the total
purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates
or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The result of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
and the state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at 31
December 2010 are set out in the financial statements on pages
67 to 144.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to RMB1,109.1 million as at 31 December 2010.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has decided not to issue a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2010 (2009: nil).

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 26 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen (Chairman)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Mr. Zhao Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 15 October 2009)

Mr. Xia Yuan Jun (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Mr. Fu Chong (Chief Operations Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Mr. Fong Pin Jan (Chief Financial Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander
(appointed on 10 October 2010)
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman
(appointed on 10 October 2010)
Mr. Zhang Zhou
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. Mr. Zhao Yu, executive Director,
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible, offer himself for rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of article 83(3) of the articles of association of the
Company, the Directors shall have the power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
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Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election. The Directors namely Mr. Zhao
Chuan Wen, Mr. Xia Yuan Jun, Mr. Fu Chong, Mr. Fong Pin Jan,
Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander, Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman
and Mr. Zhang Zhou shall hold office only until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the date of listing of the Company on
28 October 2010 (the “Listing Date”) on the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independent
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which were required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as
follows:
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Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital
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e T EARARE #IT
EEpns & # EERHE RAEBD L
Mr. Zhao Yu Registered owner 557,172,000 (L) 55.14%
HWFEE HEMmEAA

(L): Long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the reporting period
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company
(including their spouses and children under 18 years of age) to
hold any interest or short positions in the shares, or underlying
shares, or debentures, of the Company or its associated
corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2010, no person (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) was interested in 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company which were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or to be disclosed under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which was approved by the written resolutions
of all the Shareholders and adopted by the resolutions of the
Board passed on 10 October 2010 (the “Adoption Date”). The
Share Option Scheme is for a period of 10 years commencing
from the Adoption Date, after which period no further options
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shall be granted. Since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme, no option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward the
Participants (as defined below) who have contributed to the
Group and to encourage the participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for the
benefit of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer (the
“Offer”) options to the Directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
and any of their respective associates) and employees (including
any of their associates) of the Group, companies owned by
directors of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint
venture business partners, promoters, service providers of any
member of the Group who the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group (the
“Participants”), to subscribe for Shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed
10% in nominal amount of the aggregate of Shares in issue on
the Listing Date without prior approval from the Shareholders.
The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to a single Participant under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
for the time being.

Any Offer will remain open for acceptance by a Participant for
28 days from the date of grant and is deemed to be accepted
when the Company receives from the relevant Participant the
Offer letter signed by him/her specifying the number of Shares
in respect of which the Offer is accepted and a remittance to
the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant of
option. The option may be exercised at any time during the
period to be determined and notified by the Board to the
Participant at the time of making an Offer which shall not be
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later than 10 years from the date of grant. The exercise price
will be determined by the Board, and but in any event shall not
be less than the higher of (i) the nominal value of the Shares, (ii)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, or (iii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company had maintained the public
float as required under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the
reporting period or at any time during the reporting period.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2010, bank balances and cash of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1,265.2 million (2009:
approximately RMB184.0 million).

As of 31 December 2010, the Group had bank borrowings of

approximately RMB100.0 million (2009: approximately RMB302.3
million).

GEARING RATIO

liabilities
(20009:

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's current
amounted to approximately RMB168.4 million
approximately RMB503.8 million).
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The net assets value per share of the Group was approximately
RMB1.57 per share as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
approximately RMBO0.55 per share). The net asset value per share
was computed based on 1,010,500,000 ordinary shares (2009:
551,000,727 shares) in issue as at 31 December 2010.

The Group’s current ratio was approximately 7.7 (2009:
approximately 0.5). Our gearing is computed based on total
interest bearing indebtedness over total assets. The gearing ratio
as at 31 December 2010 was approximately 5.3% (2009:
approximately 36.4%) which was mainly due to a bank
borrowings of RMB100.0 million (2009: RMB302.3 million).

CHARGES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no charges on its
assets nor any material contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK

Our revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB, which
is currently not a freely convertible currency. Furthermore, most
of our transactions are conducted in RMB, however, the Group
undertakes certain transactions denominated in Singapore dollars
and US dollars and we will require foreign currencies for
dividend payment (if any) to our Shareholders. As a result, we
are exposed to foreign currency fluctuations. Additionally, any
appreciation of RMB may affect the value of, and any dividends
payable on, our Shares in foreign currency terms. The Group
currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge against
its exposure to foreign currency risk. However, the Group
manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rate.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group employed 545 employees.
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme to
provide incentive to Directors and employees. Please refer to the
paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report for
details of such scheme.

As at 31 December 2010, the total staff costs amounted to
approximately RMB16.7 million (2009: approximately RMB8.4
million). The Company maintains a Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the Participants
for their contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past three financial periods is set out in the
financial highlight section on pages 9 to 10 of this report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
Government. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of its payroll costs to the retirement benefits scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
specified contributions under the scheme.

Particulars of employee retirement benefit plans of the Group
are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into various transactions with certain
parties which are deemed to be connected persons as defined
under the Listing Rules during the Review Year, all of which
other than exempt continuing connected transactions have been
discontinued. Details of our relationship with these connected
persons and the details of these discontinued connected
transactions are set out below:

Sino Construction and its subsidiaries

Mr. Zhao CW, our Executive Director and Chairman, and the
father of Mr. Zhao, our Chief Executive Officer, is the executive
chairman of Sino Construction. Sino Construction was listed on
the official list of the Singapore Exchange Limited on 12 June
2008 and Mr. Zhao CW indirectly controls more than 30% of
the shares eligible to vote at general meetings of Sino
Construction. He stepped down from the position as the chief
executive officer of Sino Construction in April 2010. X EH A IE
BEELZEAFMR AT (Daging City Dazheng Building Installation
Co., Ltd.*) (“ Dazheng Building”) and XET AEREMER LT
BB QA (Daging City Baixinyuan Concrete Products Co., Ltd.*)
("Daqing Baixinyuan”) are wholly owned by Sino Construction
through its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, K EZREELTE
BBRAA (Da Qing Xinyuan Construction Planning Co. Ltd.*)
(formerly known as XESZRZEXREBMR AR (Da Qing
Xinyuan Construction Planning Co. Ltd. *)). Mr. Zhao CW is also
the legal representative and the sole director of Daging Xinyuan,
Dazheng Building and Daging Baixinyuan. As a result, each of
Sino Construction, Dazheng Building and Daging Baixinyuan is
our connected person as defined under Rule 14A.11(4) of the
Listing Rules.

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

BEXS

AEBRETALILZERS  REBEFE
ZEATHAR/ETRAUMAENEEAL
ERZ(BRERENTEREISINYE K
IF - ARFIEZEFREALTHERRZFER
LHEERSHFBNT:

TERAENEQH

RARRITEETRIRBEEXLE(BEESD
ﬁaa%gz\%ﬁ)%npgmmzroqﬂ@
REZBEENFERNATHEFTMEEFEEFZZA
EXBHELIT  BEXEEBEEEZHGER
RAERRERRAGLEEMAEI0NRKMD - HR
ZEZEFMOARFFREEFENTERM - K
EMAEEELZEASRARIREZEDR
AETEERERERLIAERAGTREGE
BDRETEFREEE2EMBRAIRES
BRREEZEERAFGIBAESREREXS
ERAGDEZ2EHRE HEXEETRRES
B RKREEERAEAERMNEARKEE
—EF AW PR AREBERKRKEEER
Z2BHAELETRAEI4ANNG)IEET AT &
AL e

51



52

Global Dairy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

AXETEBEAZKEFRAA (Daging Wan Long Jiu Sheng
Trading Co., Ltd*) (“Daging Wanlong”)

Ms. Cao Yan Xia (BRRE) and Mr. Li Zhan Jun (Z#E) directly
controlled 100% of the equity interest eligible to vote at general
meetings of Daging Wanlong, as to 2% and 98%, respectively.
Ms. Cao Yan Xia is the sister of Madam Cao Yan Ming who is
the mother of Mr. Zhao, our controlling Shareholder, executive
Director and chief executive officer, and Mr. Li Zhan Jun is Ms.
Cao Yan Xia's husband. As a result, Daging Wanlong is a
connected person as defined under Rule 14A.11(4) the Listing
Rules.

1. Provision of a corporate guarantee by Dazheng
Building in connection with a loan granted to
Changqing Dairy

Dazheng Building provided a corporate guarantee in favour
of Daging City Commercial Bank on 31 August 2009 as
security for a loan of RMB40 million granted to Changging
Dairy by Daging City Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. The
duration of the loan is for the period commencing on 31
August 2009 and expiring on 25 August 2010. The term
of the corporate guarantee commenced on the date of the
loan agreement and will be in effect for two years after
the expiry of the loan or until the full repayment by
Changging Dairy under the loan agreement. The loan was
repaid and the corporate guarantee has been released. We
do not intend to rely on Dazheng Building to furnish any
guarantees or other securities to secure our future bank
borrowings.
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Provision of a pledge of assets by Daqing
Baixinyuan in connection with a loan granted to
Daging Dairy

Daging Baixinyuan provided a pledge over its property
located at No. 94-2, Wan Feng Lu, Long Feng District,
Daging, PRC in favour of China Construction Bank
Corporation Limited (Daging Branch) as security for a loan
of RMB100 million granted to Daging Dairy by China
Construction Bank Corporation Limited (Daging Branch)
pursuant to an undated agreement between the parties.
The term of the loan is for one year commencing from 22
January 2009 until 21 January 2010. We have repaid this
loan and the pledge has been released. We do not intend
to rely on Daging Baixinyuan to furnish any guarantees or
other securities to secure our future bank borrowings.

Provision of loan by Daqing Wanlong to Daqing
Dairy

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 9 April 2010 made
between Daging Wanlong and Daging Dairy, Daging
Wanlong agreed to provide a non-interest bearing loan in
the sum of RMB50.0 million to Daging Dairy for its
working capital purposes. Daging Wanlong and Daging
Dairy agreed that the loan amount shall be repaid by
Daging Dairy within 15 business days of Daging Wanlong's
demand for repayment provided that Daging Wanlong shall
not make such a repayment demand within 90 days from
the date on which the loan is made. Daging Wanlong
disbursed the entire loan amount of RMB50.0 million to
Daging Dairy in April 2010 and Daging Dairy had repaid
the entire loan in the end of July 2010. We had procured
the loan from Daging Wanlong purely as a precautionary
measure against any unanticipated operational cash
requirement whilst we undertook restructuring of our loans
and we do not intend to procure any loan from Daging
Wanlong in the future.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during
the Review Year.

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Zhao Chuan Wen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the
elements of good corporate governance in the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability to the Shareholders as a whole.
The Board strived to uphold good corporate governance and
adopt sound corporate governance practices. This report outlines
the principles and the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules, which have been adopted by the Group.

In accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”). The Company has also established a nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) with defined terms
of reference. The terms of reference of these Board committees
are available upon request.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, all code provisions
set out in the CG Code were fulfilled by the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
TRANSACTIONS

SECURITIES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the required standard for
securities transactions by Directors. The Company has made
specific enquiries of all Directors and all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December
2010.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board of Directors

As at 31 December 2010, the Board comprises five executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2010 was as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen (Chairman)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Mr. Zhao Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 15 October 2009)

Mr. Xia Yuan Jun (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Mr. Fu Chong (Chief Operations Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Mr. Fong Pin Jan (Chief Financial Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander
(appointed on 10 October 2010)
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman
(appointed on 10 October 2010)
Mr. Zhang Zhou
(appointed on 10 October 2010)

The biographical details of all Directors are set out in pages 34
to 40 of this report. Save as disclosed in this report, none of
the Directors has any other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate
and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to
the business of the Group. The Board brings a variety of
experiences and expertises to the Company.

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer are
segregated and are not exercised by the same individual.
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Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
strategies, financial objectives, annual budget, investment
proposals of the Group and to assume the responsibilities of
corporate governance of the Group. The Board delegates the
authority and responsibility for implementing day-to-day
operations, business strategies and management of the Group's
businesses to the executive Directors, senior management and
certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 28 October 2010. During the year ended 31
December 2010, the Board held one board meeting. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) will assist the chairman to prepare
the agenda of the meeting and each Director may request to
include any matters in the agenda for the regular Board
meetings. Generally, at least 14 days notice would be given for
the regular Board meetings by the Company. The Directors will
receive details of agenda items for decision at least 3 days
before each regular Board meeting. The Company Secretary is
responsible for distributing detailed documents to Directors prior
to the meetings of the Board, to ensure that the Directors are
able to make informed decisions regarding the matters to be
discussed in the meetings so that they may receive accurate,
timely and clear information. All Directors may access the advice
and services of the Company Secretary who regularly updates
the Board on governance and regulatory matters. All Directors
will also be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’'s expense. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the
Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with
opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the
procedures of the Board meetings. All minutes of Board
meetings were recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010, one Board meeting was
held. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

Name of the Director

REBEE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—HLEFE " B
BRT—REZE SEFNHEFHBOT:

=
INE &

EEHR

Executive Directors

BTES

Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen (Chairman) (appointed on 10 October 2010) il
HWEXLAE(ETE) (R _ZE—ZF+ATHEZT)

Mr. Zhao Yu (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 15 October 2009) il
BFEEE(EEHTE)  R_ZEZNF+ATHEBEZE)

Mr. Xia Yuan Jun (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 10 October 2010) il
EnEREFEREHNTE) R_ZE—ZEF+ATHEZT)

Mr. Fu Chong (Chief Operations Officer) (appointed on 10 October 2010) 171
NWEF(BEEER)  R_T—ZTF+ATHEZE)

Mr. Fong Pin Jan (Chief Financial Officer) (appointed on 10 October 2010) 11
FREEE(BEEABEE)  R_Z—Z2FTATHEZE)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUIHTES

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (appointed on 10 October 2010) 1/1
REREER-_Z-—ZF+ATHEZT)

Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (appointed on 10 October 2010) 11
REFZT(R_ZT-—ZF+HATHEZE)

Mr. Zhang Zhou (appointed on 10 October 2010) 1/1
RAEE(R_ZE-—ZF+RTHAEEE)

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal ZE -EERBRES

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or ZEZBEEARAIURBEEHNXEZELE @ 8
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three EWMAH(ZZE—FTF+AZ+ N \RARBIFHF
years commencing from the Listing Date as 28 October 2010, HiAH=F  HERBERESHIZTEENE

and subject to termination in accordance with the provisions of
the service contract or appointment letter giving the other not
less than three months’ prior written notice.

By virtue of article 83(3) of the articles of association of the
Company, the Directors shall have the power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election

EIEP —HAmMSLELEL=ZBANELEER
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at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

In compliance with the code provision in A.4.2 of the CG Code
all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to the article 84(1) of
the articles of association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are
three independent non-executive Directors. Among the three
independent non-executive Directors, one has appropriate
professional qualification in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company, based on such confirmation, considers Mr. Cheung
Hok Fung Alexander, Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman and Mr.
Zhang Zhou to be independent.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/functions, while reserving certain key matters in making
strategic decision for its approval. When the Board delegates
aspects of its management and administration functions to
management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management need to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 10 October 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph C3 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to provide the Board with an independent
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system of the Group, to
oversee the audit process and to perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee
consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (being the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a Hong Kong Certified Public Accountant), Mr.
Cheung Hok Fung Alexander and Mr. Zhang Zhou.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

As the Company was listed on 28 October 2010, the Audit
Committee did not conduct any meeting during the year ended
31 December 2010.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 10 October
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph B1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (but without limitation): (a) making recommendations to
the Directors on the policy and structure for all remuneration of
the Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on
such remuneration; (b) determining the terms of the specific
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management;
(c) reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Directors from time to time; and (d) considering and approving
the grant of share options to eligible Participants under the
Share Option Scheme. The Remuneration Committee consists of
five members, of whom three are independent non-executive
Directors, being Mr. Zhang Zhou (as the chairman of the
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Remuneration Committee), Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander and
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman, and two executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Zhao Yu, also our chief executive officer, and Mr.
Zhao Chun Wen, also our Chairman.

As the Company was listed on 28 October 2010, the
Remuneration Committee did not conduct any meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

and Senior

Remuneration Policy for Directors

Management

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended and
determined by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
the corporate goals and objectives resolved by Directors from
time to time. Directors are entitled to an aggregate annual basic
salary. In addition, each of the executive Directors is also entitled
to a discretionary bonus as determined by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the performance of the Group.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme on 10
October 2010. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
reward eligible Participants who have contributed to the Group
and to encourage Participants to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 10 October 2010
with written terms of reference of the Company as
recommended in paragraph A4.5 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to formulate the nomination
procedures and standards for candidates for Directors and senior
management, to conduct preliminary review of the qualifications
and other credentials of the candidates for Directors and senior
management and to recommend suitable candidates for Directors
and senior management to the Board. The Nomination
Committee currently comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhao Yu, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander, Ms. Chan Man Wah
Carman and Mr. Zhang Zhou. Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

As the Company was listed on 28 October 2010, the Nomination
Committee did not conduct any meeting during the year ended
31 December 2010.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, the Board
has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent,
fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all
reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of their audit and non-audit services were
as follows:

2010 % BEAXBRERAT | 63

D B =

REBEE-ZTE—ZETF+-_A=+—HILEFE
R R IEZERBEEON R EN LA EE .
BERAEMITHOMS T :

Type of Services RMB'000
R 3% 8 Bl AR®T R
Audit services %8R 1,380
Non-audit services (listing fee) FEZHBRB(LTER) 4,981
Total #Et 6,361

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems. Subsequent to the listing
on 28 October 2010, the Company is in the process to engage
an independent professional body to conduct an annual review
of the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with the Shareholders and
investors. The Board also recognises that effective communication
with investors is the key to establish investor confidence and to
attract new investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to
maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure that the
investors and the Shareholders receive accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the
publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements
and circulars. The Company also publishes all documents on the
Company's website at www.global-dairy.com.cn. The Board
continues to maintain regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them informed of the Group's
strategy, operations, management and plans. The Directors and
the committee members are available to answer questions at
annual general meetings of the Company. Separate resolutions
would be proposed at general meetings of the Company on
each substantially separate issue.
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Shareholders’ Right

The Company shall adhere to the amendments to the Listing
Rules effective from 1 January 2009 such that all votes of the
Shareholders at general meetings will be taken by poll. The
results of voting by poll will be declared at the meeting and
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.

Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to the
Board by sending their written request to the Company’s
correspondence address in Hong Kong.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL DAIRY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Global
Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 67 to 144, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs as at 31 December
2010, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
16 March 2011
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #l 2 —F —FF + - H = L)

2010 2009

—2-%F CZ—TThF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B & ARETRT ARETT

Revenue U & 8 921,886 510,035

Cost of sales 5 & A AR (443,655) (274,137)

Gross profit EX 478,231 235,898

Other gains and losses H bl 2 & E5 48 9 (968) 6,797

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX (44,276) (18,934)

Administration expenses THRAX (51,717) (19,134)

Finance costs 9755 A 10 (14,672) (9,258)

Profit before taxation R Bt Al 3% R 11 366,598 195,369

Income tax expenses Fir 15 % B 2 13 (106,010) (61,900)
Profit and total comprehensive AR 2T S AR

income 260,588 133,469

Earnings per share — Basic (RMB) BRAEN —EXRXARE) 15 0.333 0.242
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Ry

at 31 December 2010 R=F —FF+=H

2010 2009
—E-Z2F5 ZZETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETT ARETTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- - BEREB 16 526,894 540,993
Prepaid lease payments TS HERK 17 38,451 39,555
Intangible assets mWEE 18 11,535 13,055
Deposits for acquisition of WEME BER
property, plant and equipment BENEE — 3,135
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 19 3,441 —
580,321 596,738
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 20,219 24,449
Trade and other receivables B E 5 BRI K B Ath B g 5k 8 21 15,711 24,205
Prepaid lease payments TS HEERK 17 847 847
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIES 22 & 28 1,265,224 183,972
1,302,001 233,473
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other liabilities E5NEMEE 23 111,488 66,600
Income tax liabilities Frigfiafts 56,868 32,691
Borrowings (EEEN 24 — 302,275
Subscription money received B RE R 25 — 102,275
168,356 503,841
Net current assets (liabilities) RBEERE)FHE 1,133,645 (270,368)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERARBEE 1,713,966 326,730
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at 31 December 2070 )& — &

2010 2009
—2-%F CZ—TThF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETT ARETTT

Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital [N 26 9 =
Reserves 1 1,590,997 302,472
1,591,006 302,472

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities IR E R IE B & 19 22,960 23,898
Borrowings & 3K 24 100,000 —
122,960 23,898
1,713,966 326,730

The consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 144 were $67H & F44B 7 55 MBRETIN T —
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on —&=F+XAKEETS AEREETZE I

16 March 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: BUTEEREEZ:
Zhao Chuan Wen Zhao Yu

HEX HF
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EF EF
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 # £ —F —FF 1+ = H =

Other Statutory
Share paid-in Share surplus Retained
capital capital premium reserve earnings Total
Hit EE
&N BREX RHEE Bt REEF 85t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTIT ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR®TT
(see note (a) (see note (b)
below) below)
(RTX (RTX
Bt 5 (a)) Bt 3% (b))
At 1 January 2009 R-BBAFE—HA—H — — — 11,310 42,825 54,135
Profit and total FEEMNR2EEA

comprehensive income pck=]

for the year — — — — 133,469 133,469
Subscription money received 2 W3R 8 &

(see note (a) below) (BT XXM (@) — 114,868 — — — 114,868
Transfer L — — — 14,362 (14,362) —
At 31 December 2009 and R-ZZEhF

1 January 2010 +ZA=+—HBk

—Z2-Z5—H—H — 114,868 — 25,672 161,932 302,472
Issue of shares to Mr Zhao  [AI#E SE £ B /TR D

(see note (a) below) (BT HfE @) — (114,868) 125,000 — — 10,132
Issue of shares to the AKREEBETRG

Investors (as defined in (F % R M FE26(d)

note 26 (d)) (see note 26 ( 5B 5 26(d) 2 P 5

(d) and note 26 (f)) 26(f)) — — 127,780 — — 127,780
Capitalisation Issue (as AR EAT

defined in note 26 (g)) (F & B M 3E26(9) 7 — @) = — =
Issue of new shares upon  RAARA R R B

the listing of the BITER 5

Company'’s shares 2 — 943,829 — — 943,831
Transaction costs attributable #7173 #1715

to issue of new shares R G A — — (53,797) — — (53,797)
Profit and total FERMEZA

comprehensive income WA B

for the year — — — — 260,588 260,588
Transfer iz — — — 30,274 (30,274) —
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-FF

+-—A=+—H 9 — 1,142,805 55,946 392,246 1,591,006




Notes:

2010 F3f RIRIEZRER A
for the year ended 31 December 2010 # £ — F — £ 4 A HIEF )2
Mt -

Other paid-in capital a. Hib @2 &R
As at 31 December 2009, the amount represented the non-refundable RZZEZNFF+A=+—HB ZREERLLA
partial payment of subscription money received from #5 (Mr Zhao Yu, "Mr HETF(BETEE [BEEDR-_ZEZAF T+ *ﬂ
Zhao") in December 2009 in respect of a share subscription agreement Z+HITYHRORERSE  R-_TETAF+=A
entered into between the Company and Mr Zhao dated 20 November METERMO T RRTIRER - ERR=-F
2009. Together with an additional money of RMB10,132,000 settled in —ZF- ﬂ i E N AIE/\EMmBZ 0007t (& Bff
February 2010 (see note 28 (c)), an aggregate of 63,171 ordinary shares of i$28(0) R=ZT—ZEF-_AWBARRAF A #£63,171
HK$0.00001 each in the Company were issued to Mr Zhao on 4 February % & A% 0. OOOOL%?Eth HXE%%‘{T%E%E =]
2010, details of which are set out in note 26 (e). FEIESANEYAOK
Statutory surplus reserve b. EERBRBEE

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”), the Company’'s PRC subsidiaries
are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund which is non-
distributable. The appropriations to such reserve are made out of net profit
after taxation of the statutory financial statements of the relevant PRC
subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up
prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by
means of capitalisation issue.

BREARAMBE(FE]DEENBBEERERER
BE ARRFEMBABRAFENADIKNEE
BHFERES - S HENERTIRA S EHEE M
BREDEEMBRRORRRATN - ZERBHEB
ESAARBMBEFEBBMA)  LANER
BT T ABRESEN -
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2010 2009
—E-FH5 —ZFTIThF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 ARETT AR®ETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before taxation B A B s A 366,598 195,369
Adjustments for: 78 S B
Finance costs B &5 A 14,672 9,258
Interest income B A (971) (8,494)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BRERZETE
equipment 26,338 19,195
Release of prepaid lease payments TR ERERE 1,104 655
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEE#E 1,520 1,520
Losses on disposals of property, HEWE BMERKEERE
plant and equipment 590 366
Exchange gain on subscription money B WRRER LKA E A
received and loans from Investors B IE 5 ek (256) (1,308)
Operating cash flows before HEESEHNLERERE
movements in working capital 409,595 216,561
Decrease in inventories FERL 4,230 23,459
Decrease (increase) in trade and other EUWE Z R &
receivables H b i U SR TE Rk A (8 n) 8,494 (11,843)
Increase in trade and other payables  JEfTZE ZEH &
H fth & A< 5K IR 45 AN 46,098 13,294
Cash generated from operations XGmERS 468,417 241,471
Income tax paid EATFT S B (86,212) (44,663)
Interest paid B B (11,845) (9,025)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEBMESEEEHE
ACTIVITIES 370,360 187,783
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  WEKRKRE
equipment (11,138) (125,297)
Interest received 2 WF B 971 406
Proceeds on disposals of property, LEWE  BER
plant and equipment REFSRIE 467 191
Cash outflow relating to Daging Dairy AR AEI &I EEEH
Acquisition (as defined in note 2) Hemht(EERWE2) — (318,776)
Amount advanced to Changqing Dairy % i 5 % B L % 3B
(as defined in note 2) (& AK5E2) — (52,489)
Net cash inflow relating to Changqging A EE I Z WK EEEH
Dairy Acquisition ReEm AR 27 — 32,908




2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

for the year ended 31 December 2010 & Z

2010 2009
—E-FF —TTHAF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 ARETT AR®ETT
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETBHFAREER
ACTIVITIES (9,700) (463,057)
FINANCNG ACTIVITIES & E B
Issue of new shares upon the listing of FAZARRX &I L b
the Company’s shares BITE R D 943,831 —
Bank borrowings raised EEERITEE 100,000 160,000
Amount advanced from a related party & #iE 5 %K 50,000 —
Loans from the Investors KEREENERK 24 (d) &
28 (b) 44,888 —
Repayments of bank borrowings EBERIEITER (200,000) (60,000)
Repayments of loans from the Investors fEi& 1% & & B X (76,514) =
Amount repaid to a related party EE—REETRIA (50,000) (30,000)
Cash paid to Mr Zhao BEfNEEERS 28 (o) (37.816) =
Transaction costs attributable to issue %17 7 I FE 15 &2 5 K X
of new shares (53,797) —
Other paid-in capital received from Bl E B R &R
Mr Zhao — 114,868
Subscription money received and loans B W RE R & EEEE
granted from the Investors TR B =% — 205,858
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METHRERTFA
ACTIVITES 720,592 390,726
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BE&REBESESEWEMFE
EQUIVALENTS 1,081,252 115,452
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHREERESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 183,972 68,520
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT £XRRERRESEEY
END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and ~ (JESR{THEHB KR S)
cash 1,265,224 183,972
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GENERAL

Global Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15
October 2009.

The address of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is 18 Kilometer An Sa Road,
Daging High-Tech Industrial Development Zone, Daging
City, Heilongjiang Province, PRC.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
principal subsidiaries of the Company operate (the
functional currency of the Company and the principal
subsidiaries).

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture, marketing
and sales of dairy products. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 33.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 28 October 2010 (the “Listing”).

—REHR

REIARXRERERAFMTARRR DR -F
ENLFTATAREREREEMAL
RABRRE -

N N A &k i BE 4k & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ¢ "2
ANETELEMBAPEREIEANE
MEFRLERISRERE -

AREREMBAR (ATHRERIAEER])
MGV BREANARTANEIERBER
AREMEZIZEEBERBNEBARE
TAR®] ARARETENB AT
WEEEEIZ25 -

ARRB—HREEZERAF - AEEE
ER=ZIHMBE THERELRHEE
X - ARAMTEMNBRARNIEER
BTHE SR M 533 e

AR HEa—ZE—ZF+A=-1+N
BREEEH ARSI BRAR (B A7)
FRETA LMD



for the year ended 31 December 2010 & %

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Global Milk Products Pte. Ltd. (“Global Milk Singapore”), a
subsidiary of the Company, was incorporated on 15
September 2006 as a private limited company in Singapore
and allotted and issued one ordinary share to a third party
(the “Third Party”). On 8 October 2007, the Third Party
transferred the one ordinary share in Global Milk Singapore
to Mr Zhao, the controlling shareholder of the Company.
On 25 July 2008, Global Milk Singapore acquired the
entire equity interest of AEILMBEABEREFT AR (Da
Qing Dairy Ltd.*, “Daging Dairy”) (the *“Daging Dairy
Acquisition”) and further, on 16 November 2009, Daging
Dairy acquired the entire equity interest of BRI HFEF
¥ AR & 27 (Heilongjiang Chang Qing Dairy Products
Co., Ltd.*, “Changging Dairy”) (the “Changging Dairy
Acquisition”). These two acquisitions are recognised by
using the purchase accounting method.

Pursuant to the group reorganisation (the “Group
Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the Group
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange, the Company became the holding
company of the Group on 15 October 2009 by
interspersing the Company between Global Milk Singapore
and Mr Zhao. Details of the Group Reorganisation were
set out in the prospectus dated 15 October 2010 issued by
the Company (the "“Prospectus”).

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2009 have been prepared on the
basis as if the Company had always been the holding
company of the companies now comprising the Group
throughout the year ended 31 December 2009, or since
the respective dates of incorporation of the relevant entity,
where there is a shorter period.

# The English names are for identification purpose only.

2.

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

BAMBRRSHIEE

XA &) MY B A B Global Milk Products Pte.
Ltd. ([Global Milk Singaporel) ¥ =Z & /X
FRA+RBEEF M FMEK LA —H
ABRABYR—BE=FUTE=H))
e RET—REAR RNR_ZTZT+F
+ A NN H' £ = 7 # Global Milk
Singapore — % I i@ % 82 3 T AR B 1E )
[REEEE - RZZEZTNFELA=Z+THA -
Global Milk Singapore I B8 X B %L & & &
REEAR(REI MDA 2 PAE(K
EIlmbkEEE]) BER-_ZETNE+—
At+/AA REARE—FTRERET
FPEIXEAREARA(EEILEDHN
EHRE(EELXRESTE]) - ZM
HWKBEBENRBBESIEAER -

BEBEBARRBRMRBERAT MM
FEAEEEBLABLLETHEREA(SE
EEH]) BB ARA AR Global Milk
Singapore B i £ £ Y BT A HF - AAQ
AR-ZZEZENFTA+TRAEBEXNABEEE
ERAR - ERSEEEAFRBIANELR
AARA-FT—ZF+A+TRAARE®
BRER(BRERDA -

RREAEBBE-_TTNF+=A=
T-HLEFENGAEZENRAR  &£E
BaZ2PRLEERERERET  BRR
ARRREBEEABE_TTAF T+ A=
T-RALEFEXEHERBNESEKILA
HERENED EREMAKRETSE
BaRARMER AR -

* HXEFERBT -
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3.

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”):

FE P B B B 5 R 5 22 A ([ BBl B
M| EERD )

RAFE AEBCEANTEEER
HEABER(ERGHENBER])
8 1 B 37 T 2 AT 45 3T R B+ (53T A R
B

IFRSs (Amendments)

IFRSs (Amendments)

IAS 27 (Revised)

IAS 39 (Amendment)

IFRS 1 (Amendment)

IFRS 2 (Amendment)

IFRS 3 (Revised)

IFRIC — INT 17

Amendments to IFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to
IFRSs issued in 2008
Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2009

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
Eligible Hedged Items

Additional Exemptions for First-time
Adopters

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

Business Combinations

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

The application of the above new and revised Standards
and Interpretations in the current year has had no material
effect on the amounts reported in these consolidated
financial statements and/or disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

B % B 7 4 5 2 B AR REENFEROETA
(BEX) (fE B =TT \F R b8 B
BRERRBE 287
B % B 7 3 o 22 B “RTNERMZ
CHEN) BB B 7 3 5 2 B it
HR gt R E275 SARBIBBRE
(BEET)
05 & 5t A 55395 AERYWER
(BFTA)
ARMBREENEIR BRRABEZENES
CHES]
ERMBREENEE SEREHEEURLA
CHEN) AERNHRS
RRHBRELNEIR  EHAH
(E5T)
RESBRERE AEBEADKEREEE

Ze8 — REZR

RAEERAN LA REERTHER

EBREILRENE

ZEREMBHRERAZ

BeBBR /IR ZEGEUBERERA
I BEERERTE -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 = F —FF+ = H = +—HILF 2

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to IFRSs 2010'

IFRS 1 (Amendments) Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters?
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal
of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters?

IFRS 1 (Amendments)

IFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of Financial
Assets®

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

IAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying

Assets®

IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures®

IAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Rights Issues’

IFRIC 14 (Amendments) Prepayments of a Minimum Funding

Requirement®

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and
1 January 2011, as appropriate

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these new or revised standards and
interpretations will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.

3.

FE P B B B 5 R 5 22 A ([ BBl B
BMBHREERDE)

REEIW AR F KA AT B |46 HEm R

EME AT REETORER - BRI %R
=
CEBEE R “E-TEERMBRS
CHES Al
BRMBREENES BRMBRELAETREERR
CHES WERBLERTHERHE?
BRUBRELNET BESBERIBERRAEL
CHES) 52 B
BRHBRELNETSE RE— cRAEER
CHES)
BHUBERELAER MIA

B g st &R 125
CHES)

B BR & & 2 Bl $524%;
(& 153T)

BB g AR R 5325
(B3 A)

HRUBRERRE
ZEGEUR
(BETA)

HERABRERE
ZEEE195%

ERHIE: W AREES
BEALRES
HEoF

REE & BRMBAMN RS

NEBATAER £/ & F

i R_ZE—ZTFLtA—ARKR=T——H—H—
B (@A) sk 2% 5 a8 & 5 IR £ %

2 RZTE—ZTFELtA— AR ZRHABENEEH
P8 4 3K

E RZT——F+t A AR ZEFABNFEER
P

2 RZE—=F—A— AR ZEABNTER
PEER

5 RZE—ZF—A— A 2B ENEER
A R

6 R-Z——F—A B 2BRAANEER
P

7 RZZE—ZTF_A— B 2BHABRNTER
FE A 3K

EEEY KA LAMTHEERTNE
ARREf e HAKRENTHERARE
REATE -
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4,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the IASB. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and the entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by the Group.

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income
and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

EEZEENBRBME

BT XEARRAEE  KEMBR
RVDBBELRAERE -

HRAEMBERERBREBERSFERESS
OB BIBR I 75 5 Rl AR &L » e ob
RAEMBRREEERBIMES LT
RAIRBEBERRRPIFFRENERKE

REEE

RAMBRRBEAARRAARAE
HEOEBEMBARMPBERE - A0
AR AEREERXREERNMBEREE
BRRABBEEKEZS IR ARF
BEAEGRE-

REAFERBIREENHBAREE -
EstAZeaezmBERETT DR B KE
A AR ARGTEHEEREH (10
) °

s E B BT B A~ F RO B IS R ME
AE - ERFNSFBRRELAKETK
RE—2-
MEERBEREARS & WARX
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Business combinations that took place on or after
1 January 2010

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

EEZEENBRBEE)

EBE

R-FB-—FF-—FA—HHZEHFEE
=4

79

EBRBIRERABEBEAR -REBKE
HEBRNONKERRFESE MAES
ARASBRBREE AKEHBEW
BOIRBEAEENBERAEBERR
BB RERITOREN RS
BHOAFEAN BRKRBERBED
RARELERERSTER -

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

REBEEH BERENABMINEERE
AEABENRRBERREAQRAFEETNU
FER - HET P B IEBRIN

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or . REHEEENEENEREERT
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are ZHEBNBEHREED AR EE
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 R EH ERI 125 TP 5 A0 ) K BB
“Income Taxes” and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” GErEAE19REE R T IER
respectively; 2

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based e HWWBIURNMRBERMNRRS

ERANBERXRATARUAEH
ABRDRERNRRXZEERKE
TABNAERNRARZTIRIEE
BRI EERF2R AR D B E
BT IETE &

payment transactions of the acquiree or the
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with share-based payment transactions
of the Group are measured in accordance with IFRS
2 "Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date;
and

RIB B BR B 75 3 5 R R SF55R [ #5145
HEMERBDEERDRIELER
BlIESRFKELHENEE(HE
ME)IREBEZEELGE -

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held o
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that Standard.
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4,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after
1 January 2010 (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

EEZEENBRRBMEE)

EBast(E)

R-FE—FF—
aof (&)

A—HE &I EE

PrEs B (B - BRI T A SE R
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BENRMAZEABERNKBEARNFE
BHEKMOERSEE - W(EF[HE)
BEUREBOABNEERAENRERK
BHNFEBHAEBERE RRKE
JTAE A FE £ IR M a5 1) & BB SR MR BB U5 SR A
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place prior to
1 January 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date
of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that
met the relevant conditions for recognition were generally
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the
recognised amounts of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the
Group’s interest in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeded the cost of the acquisition, the excess
was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Goodwill was determined at each
step. Any additional acquisition did not affect the
previously recognised goodwill.

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF
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REXBAHEBEBABEEAR -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to
the other assets of the unit on pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

EEZEENBRRBMEE)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and legal title is passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax for the year is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes
are charged as expenses when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent payments for leasehold
land and are released over the lease terms on a straight-
line basis. Prepaid lease payments which are to be released
in the next twelve months or less are classified as current
assets.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

3 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)
Research and development expenditure (continued)

o how the intangible asset will
future economic benefits;

generate probable

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure
attributable to the
development.

reliably the expenditure
intangible asset during its

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Where no

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Trademarks

Trademarks acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
it satisfies the definition of an intangible asset and its fair
values can be measured reliably. The costs of trademarks
are their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to
initial recognition, intangible asset with finite useful life are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. The intangible asset will be
amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful lives.

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. At the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Impairment of financial assets

The financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial
assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
assets, the estimated future cash flows of the investment
have been affected.

The objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit terms of the customers, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including borrowings, trade and other
payables and subscription money received) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
and is included in finance costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset or retains a residual
interest that does not result in the retention of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
the Group retains control), the Group allocates the
previous carrying amount of the financial asset between
the part it continues to recognise under continuing
involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date
of the transfer. The difference between the carrying
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised
and the sum of the consideration received for the part no
longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is allocated between the part that continues to be
recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(@) Estimated impairment of inventories

The Group assesses periodically if the inventories
have been suffered from any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note
4.

The identification of impairment of inventories
requires the use of judgement and estimates of
expected future cash inflows. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of inventories and
impairment loss in the year in which such estimate
has been changed. The directors of the Company are
satisfied that this risk is minimal and no allowance
for obsolete and slow moving inventories was
provided during the year ended 31 December 2010
(2009: nil). The carrying amount of inventories as at
31 December 2010 was approximately
RMB20,219,000 (2009: RMB24,449,000).
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5.

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment of trade and other
receivables

As explained in note 4, trade and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in
profit or loss when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired.

The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates of expected
future cash Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of trade and other
receivables and doubtful debts expenses in the year
in which such estimate has been changed. The
directors of the Company are satisfied that this risk
is minimal and no allowance for doubtful debts was
provided during the year ended 31 December 2010
(2009: nil). The carrying amount of trade and other
receivables as at 31 December 2010 was
approximately RMB15,711,000 (2009:
RMB24,205,000).

inflows.

Useful life and residual value of property,
plant and equipment

The management determines the residual value,
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. These estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual
residual value and useful lives of plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions and may
vary significantly as a result of technical innovation
and keen competition from competitors, resulting in
higher depreciation charge and/or write-off or write-
down of technically obsolete assets when residual
value or useful lives are less than previously
estimated. The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment as at 31 December 2010 was
approximately RMB526,894,000 (2009:
RMB540,993,000).
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 i £ = F —FF + = H = +—HILF 2
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. EXmBER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group AEENESEEREEHRRAEEET
entities will be able to continue as a going concern while FRNFAKERE N RARERELE
maximising the return to shareholders through the BRBRAZEERRREFRERKEH - K
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group's SEMBEXRKE LEFESEERNES -
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, TEENEARBOEEBFHE HE
which included borrowings and net of cash and cash REEBEX BHeFRERkRe&FEWER
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the ARARREGREEDETRE  #E
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and RRBEF) -
retained earnings.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure ARREETHBRAERER - KXEH
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the EREARAKAREREARNEERR -
risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance WK EBBETHRARFTHESLE
its overall capital structure through new share issues as EEREERESFSHEREEBERNEBRET
well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of 17 o
existing debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. €®WmIH

(@) Categories of financial instruments

() ®WMIAEZSE

2010 2009
—E-FF —TTAF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETTT
Financial assets: SREE:
Loans and receivables (including cash EZX Rk ERR(BER S LB €
and cash equivalents) ZEY) 1,276,195 197,545
Financial liabilities: SRAaE:
Liabilities measured at amortised costs X # K AN SR A& 136,236 440,575
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
polices

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, trade and other payables,
borrowings, bank balances and cash and subscription
money received. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below.

The directors of the Company manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the
market risks including interest risk (note 7 (c) (i)) and
foreign currency risk (note 7 (c) (ii)). There has been
no change to the Group's exposure to these market
risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks from prior year.

(i) Interest rate risk management

The fair value interest rate risk of the Group
relates primarily to fixed rate interest bank
borrowings and loan from Investors. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Market risk (continued)

(1)

(1)

Interest rate risk management (continued)

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to variable rate bank balances. The
directors of the Company consider that the
Group is not exposed to significant interest rate
risks attributable to variable rate bank balances
and thus, no sensitivity analysis to interest rate
risk is presented.

Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
holding of foreign currency assets and liabilities
will affect the Group’s financial position as a
result of a change in foreign currency
exchanges rates. Certain bank balances and
cash, subscription money received and
borrowings of the Group are denominated in
foreign currencies, details of which are set out
in respective notes, expose the Group to
foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge against its exposure to
foreign currency risk. However the Group
manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. EMIAE
() Market risk (continued) () WiZRE(E)
(i) Foreign currency risk management (continued) (i) SNEJE B B HE ()
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign KEBUINEIENEEE
currency denominated monetary assets and ERE¥KEERSBEAR
monetary liabilities at the end of each ZEEERNT:
respective reporting period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—ER-BF _—_TTNF ZT-BF _—_EZETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®BTRT AREBTRT AR®TTT
United States Dollars ("USD") Et([ZE L)) — — 2,483 1,441
Singapore Dollars (“SGD”)  FT ¥ ([##]) — 204,640 550 523
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"”) &t ([ tl) — — 9,897 =
— 204,640 12,930 1,964

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency

of the USD, SGD and HKD.

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting

foreign currency risk
management

personnel and

internally to key
represents

management’s assessment of the reasonably

possible change in foreign exchange rates.

AEEETEmMHEXT HE

KRAETZER -

TRFMANEEMHMARER
TR RN 10% 2 SRR E o
0% 2 HREREZEARANZ
WINERBALETEETEAE
EREEEFEEETE N

87 HNEHIRE -
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

(1)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for
a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes loans from Investors
and bank balances denominated in currencies
other than functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase/(decrease) in post-tax profit where
RMB strengthen 10% against the relevant
foreign currencies.

7. €WMIAEE

(0 WHERE)

(1)

SPPE 7 Bz B FE (AE)

BRE DR RIS N T
ENALEEEBERERE
RAEINE X B EF10% & &)
MAEIINETE - EE D
MEREREEEENEZMU
MIEMEETEENNEEE
AN B EE S E R IRIT 48R ©

THIE# (BB RRARM
AR SN IR A R T A
109% BT 8 5 Bt 4 05 I3
B ) -

2010 2009
—¥-%F —TINE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥®TRT ARBTT
Post-tax profit would (decrease) & m A e Of )
increase by (1,293) 20,268

For a 10% weakening of the RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit after
taxation.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposures do not reflect the exposure during
the year.

i AR® X HEBINERE
10% + Bl & ¥ B 1& & A B8 A
RAEREENHERER

ARBEZRR BRES
1 R BE R R 1E SN E [ 2
REZFEROERIL KRB
FANRAR °
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is
the carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company have delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the directors of the Company review the
recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has
concentration of credit risk as the Group’s trade
receivables of approximately RMB8,082,000 (2009:
RMB8,974,000), representing 77% (2009: 70%) of
total trade receivables, were derived from five major
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
directors of the Company continuously monitor the
level of exposure to ensure that follow-up actions
and/or corrective actions are taken promptly to lower
exposure or even to recover the overdue debts. The
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on the remaining trade receivables, with exposure
spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited mainly with several banks
in the PRC. However, the credit risk on bank
balances is limited because the majority of the
counterparties are banks with good reputation
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. €EWMIAEE
(e) Liquidity risk management (e) REBELRAMERE
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the MBETRBNERETHESS
board of directors, which has built an appropriate EEC MEFSERIABENRE
liquidity risk management framework for the BeRBREEERE NEEAXAEH
management of the Group’s short, medium and MEM FHRRHARERRESE
long-term funding and liquidity management CERFE - ASEFRARABEER
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by EARBERREREMERTTER
maintaining adequate reserves by continuously H NEBRDESRAR -
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TERHAINAEENENR R EEEY
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial RAFETESHEBBENBRTELNE J
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. BB -
The tables have been drawn up based on the ZERBIBREASERZRENR
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based EIHHT%)QESJZE}EE’\JﬁﬁEEﬁ%E’WE
on the earliest date on which the Group can be WRFASKREREMK - BFEF B
required to pay. The tables include both interest and REAEHHEERE °
principal cash flows.
Weighted Total
average Less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1year 1to2years 2 to3 years cash flows amounts
RIFTHR
mEFHFE =Z@ANUR ZERAE-F —FEMFE —FE=fF ReRBE REE
% RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT AR¥ETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETT AR®ETR
Non-derivative financial #fTES@MAE
liabilities
As at 31 December 2010 RZZ-—FF
+=-A=+-H
Trade and other payables ENBAEHRR
Hfty e 508 36,236 — — - 36,236 36,236
Fixed rates interest &l 5E Bl & {5 3K
borrowings 5.3 1328 3,982 5,310 102,655 113,275 100,000
37,564 3,982 5,310 102,655 149,511 136,236
As at 31 December 2009 R-ZZEAF
+-A=+—-~H”
Trade and other payables ERNESERRKEAM
ANE ez 36,025 — - — 36,025 36,025
Loans from Investors KERBENER 73 103,499 — — — 103,499 102,275
Fixed rates interest B E =GR
borrowings 5.6 100,291 103,636 — — 203,927 200,000
Subscription money received 42 ) 72 B 218 102,275 — — — 102,275 102,275
342,090 103,636 - - 445,726 440,575
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using rates from observable current
market transaction as input.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end
of the reporting period.

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Revenue

Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable for sales of goods to customers during the
year.

Segment information

The Group operates and manages its business as a
single segment that includes primarily the
manufacture and sales of milk powder products and
ice cream products. The Group’s chief operating
decision maker has been identified as the Chief
Executive Officer, who reviews revenue analysis by
major products and the profit of the Group for the
year when making decisions about allocating
resources and assessing performance of the Group.
As no other discrete financial information is available
for assessment of performance of different products,
no segment information is presented.
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WERTHER (&

(continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

(b) 7 EMEH

Information about products EHBERBHEH
Analysis of revenue Wz 7347
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the AEERFANFEERKREZNSTE
Group's revenue by major products during the year: FIRT & :
2010 2009
—®-TF —TThF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETR

Revenue from: RERTFIBEH W &

Sales of milk powder products HEDHEm

— whole milk — 2BEHH 48,320 61,671

— formula milk — BEFHH 851,845 431,605
900,165 493,276

Sales of ice cream products 5 & KHE M E @ 21,721 16,759
921,886 510,035

Information about geographical areas A [ 1 FE 2 13 jY 5 Y

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers REBFREREREFBEINES -

based in the PRC and all of the Group’s non-current MAEBETAEREEE IR P

assets are also located in the PRC and thus, no A WEZYMIEE R -

geographical information has been presented.

Information about major customers ERHETEEFHEH

During the two years ended 31 December 2010, REBEE-_ZT—ZTF+_A=+—H

there was no customer individually accounted for IEREFEE  FEBEMNZEP(hARE

over 10% of the Group's total revenue.

EABWZA10%A E
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9.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

9. HttWmRERE

2010 2009
—¥-%F —TINE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Other gains and losses: HAph e & B 18
Interest income from: MEWAKREAT KIE :
— Changing Dairy (see note 30 (a) — BEILE (R M E30@)
and note 30 (b)) K M1 3£30 (b)) — 8,088
— Others — Hitb 971 406
971 8,494
Loss on disposals of property, plant and &Y%  BWMERRBZEE
equipment (590) (366)
Loss on sales of raw materials to MAEEARRIRELSE RAIE
BRISAAIEEREERF EREERAR(&RAIEDH
(Heilongjiang Jintianran Dairy Co., Ltd.f, & R# £ & &5 18 (R KT 730(a) &
“Jintianran Dairy”), a former related B 730 (b))
company (see note 30 (a) and note 30
(b)) — (2,890)
Gains on sales of scarp materials to XE MBEEARAETEHERAE RE
TEERERER AR AG(Dagng BRIEERIFN(RKEBRER)H
City Baixinyuan Concrete Products Co., & BER # Uk =5 (R B 7£30(a) K B
Ltd# “Daging Baixinyuan”), a related #£30(b))
company (see note 30 (a) and note 30
(b)) — 251
Exchange (losses) gains &5 (E1E) Ik = (1,349) 1,308
(968) 6,797

W The English names are for identification purpose only.

* HXEFERZT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B SRR M R

for the year ended 31 December 2010 8l 2 = F —FF + = H=+—HIFZ

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. K& A
2010 2009
—E—ZF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARBT T
Finance costs comprises: %
Interest on:
— bank borrowings wholly repayable — REFRAZHEEN
with five years 5,815 9,025
— Loans from Investors — REEER 8,857 233

14,672 9,258
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11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

11. BR% A7 % R

2010 2009
—E-Z2F ZTThE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Profit before taxation has been arrived at &3 B T 7l K IE & &Y
after charging: B 7 A1 A
Staff costs BT KA
(including directors’ emoluments): (BREZEEHH) :
— Salaries and wages — T & KR B 15,368 7,865
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — & Kk % 5 2 4 & 1,325 568
16,693 8,433
Depreciation and amortisation: & R
— Property, plant and equipment — ¥ BEREZE 26,338 19,195
— Intangible assets — B AE 1,520 1,520
27,858 20,715
Release of prepaid lease payments £ [0 78 1+ 1 B 5 1,104 655
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRAE-HEHAINTFEKRE
expense 443,655 274,137
Research and development expenses HEZY 163 104
Auditors’ remuneration 1% A % B 1,380 100
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e B SRR M R

for the year ended 31 December 2010 8l 2 = F —FF + = H=+—HIFZ

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EERESFHMH
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@) EEFHM
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to ENHENARARIESZHFMFEWD
directors of the Company are as follows: T~

Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+=-A=+—-HLFE

Retirement
benefit
Directors’ scheme Other
fees contributions emoluments Total
B E
BExud EEA H ftb 57 B B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARBTR AR¥Tn AR%®T=x

Executive directors: WiTESE:
— BEX (Mr Zhao Chuan Wen, — HEX(EEX
“Mr Zhao CW") FED 167 — — 167

— Mr Zhao — HEAE 167 — 124 291
— B TS (Mr Xia Yuan Jun, “Mr Xia") — BExE(EXE]) 100 3 103 206
— 3 (Mr Fu Chong, “Mr Fu”) — WM EED 100 3 84 187
— J7 % # (Mr Fong Pin Jan, “Mr Fong”) — B RE(HEL]) 100 — — 100
Independent non-executive directors: BUERTES:
— R 24& (Mr Cheung Hok Fung — REE(REE]

Alexander, “Mr Cheung”) 75 — — 75
— M6 (Ms Chan Wah Man Carman, — BREG ([ t])

“Ms Chan") 75 — — 75
— ®A — R®A 75 — — 75

859 6 3N 1,176
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

12. EEREEEHFMEZ

(@) E=FHME)

Year ended 31 December 2009
BE-_TRNE+-A=+—BILEE

Retirement
Directors’ benefit scheme Other
fees  contributions  emoluments Total
BRE
EEyokn 5t & 3R HoAth B B
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®TT ARBTT ARETR

Executive directors: WITES:

— Mr Zhao CW — HEENXEE
— Mr Zhao — HE4E

— Mr Xia — BRAE

— Mr Fu — k&

— Mr Fong — ARHE
Independent non-executive directors: BAUFHTES:
— Mr Cheung — REAE

— Ms Chan — BR&+

— Mr Zhang Zhou — KA A

During the vyear ended 31 December 2010, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office (2009: nil).
None of the directors has waived any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: nil).

= 3 61 64
— 1 31 32
= 4 92 96

WRE-T—TE+-A=+—AILEE
58 B3 48 AR 2 AV EE B S AN - A
Vi 7 0 52 55 0 A 5k D oK 5 . 1R
Me(CFEAF ) ARE-F—F
FH-A=T-ALTE BEEFN
FEAWE(CTRAF: ) -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 = F —FF+ = H = +—HILF 2

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, 4 were directors of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 1 director),
details of whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures above.

The emoluments of the remaining 1 individual during
the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 4
individuals) were as follows:

12. EEREEHFM(ZE)

(b) EEHMN

RBEE-_ZF-—ZFHF+-_A=+—H
LEFE - $%l£%?%%ki¢
BARRARRAEZ(ZTETNF 1
2) BEFHFBEERLXEE
H oo

REE-_ZT—ZTF+_A=+—8H
IEFE B MEBECEENF 458)
ATHFHF AT :

2010 2009

—E-THF —ZTTNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT

Salaries and allowances FMETE 137 242
Retirement benefit scheme R RTE F 5T 8] 3%

contributions 2 1

139 253

During the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31
December 2009, the emoluments of each of the five
highest paid individuals were within HK$1,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2009:
nil).

X

N E-FE—ZFTF+_A=+—H
F—ZEZAF+_A=+—HLF
B AABEeEHFALTSENH Y
1% 781,000,000 7T o

¢

7

KRBE-2-—BFT-A=1—H
I AR A AR E T
EEFALLAME CTENE:
) LAfE 7 00 B 9 1 4 5 D oK £
BEBAEEONS -

2
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 E{ £ —F —FF+ _HA=+1—HILFE
13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 13. IBHEAX
2010 2009
—E-ZTF _—_ZTTAEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETTT
Income tax expenses comprise: TS AZaE:
Current PRC enterprise income tax BIEAAR B > 2 AT 1S 110,389 56,849
Deferred taxation (see note 19) I & 778 (5 MY 3E19) (4,379) 5,051
106,010 61,900

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group did not have any assessable profit arising in
Hong Kong for the year.

The statutory tax rate of Global Milk Singapore for the
year ended 31 December 2010 was 17% (2009: 17%). No
provision for Singapore income tax has been made as the
Group did not derive any taxable income in Singapore for
the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: nil).

The statutory tax rate of Daging Dairy and Changging
Dairy, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2010 was 25% (2009: 25%).

HRAEERFASRERETBELMEM
FERRLFIB - BRI AR BB PTG
e

Global Milk SingaporeREZE=—ZT—ZF
ToA=Z+T—RLEFERIT%(ZZEZN
F 7% EERXHEN - HREAEE
REBEE-T—TF+-_A=+—HLIF
EMEmEH MK RS EMEBRT KA
W EER I ERBEE(ZZET A
FE) e

REZE=Z—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE "
ARABNTREMBRARIAELREEE
ENZEERRAEB% (T F:
25%) °
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 # & — F —FF + — / F—H IFFJE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

13.

B (#&)

RERAWABHAXES KA 2E RS
RAMBRRAFBEEHERAT

2010 2009
—E2E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Profit before taxation B %52 B AE 366,598 195,369
Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate &P B> 2 Fr 58 B R 2 # 18
(note (a) below) (T3 Ff 3E(a)) 91,650 48,842
Effect of sales rebates (note (b) below) AN FR 8 & R F O STHY #E (b))
and other expenses that are not MAXZH 2
deductible for tax purpose 13,453 6,720
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 7~ A 0% Ug A B9 56 765 57 &
purpose (1,078) (327)
Withholding income tax provision on REFRBEKE QGRS TEIR
dividend from the PRC subsidiaries Fr 15 %6 8 f8 — 6,463
Effect of unrecognised deductible losses 7 7 52 7] #& 1 &5 18 K 7] 3% 40 & 6%
and deductible temporary differences MEENTE 1,985 202
106,010 61,900

Notes:

The PRC income tax rate represents the income tax rate applicable
to Daging Dairy of which the Group’s principal operations are
substantially based throughout the year.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, during
the two years ended 31 December 2010 certain sales rebates
payable to customers are non-deductible for tax purpose as the
Group did not obtain the relevant tax deduction documents from
its customers. The directors of the Company represented that in
view of a substantial number of customers involved, it was not
practicable and the cost would be out of benefit for the Group to
obtain such tax deduction documents from the customers. As such,
the related amounts have been accounted for as non-deductible
item for tax purpose.

Wit -

(b)

TREACEMSHBNEEAREIRERNFAE
BRE REIGRAAEEREEFRENE
EREHBAR -

RETEARERRZEZR RBEE-F—%F
FT-A=+t-BLMEFE ENEFH
ETHERMNATAMB  RERANEEL
RERMBFMEHEBHNNE ARAEER
T ERMPREPEERKN  AREAE
FUBERMBR XY RNERATT - B
BRAF I FAEARENFE - At - B
EREARAKTHMBKER -
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14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company
during the two years ended 31 December 2010.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2010 is based on the profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company for the
year of approximately RMB260,558,000 (2009:
RMB133,469,000) and on the weighted average number of
781,507,977 shares (2009: 551,000,727 shares) in issue
during the year.

The weighted average number of shares for the purpose
of calculating the basic earnings per share for the two
years ended 31 December 2010 have been determined as
if the Group Reorganisation had been effective on 8
October 2007 and the effect of the 1,000-for-one Share
Subdivision (as defined in note 26 (c)) and Capitalisation
Issue (as defined in note 26 (g)) are adjusted
retrospectively.

There were no potential dilutive shares in existence during
the two years ended 31 December 2010 and therefore, no
diluted earnings per share amounts have been presented.

14.

15.

Hﬁ /%\

AANRIRBE_ZE—ZFF+_A=+—
AIEMFEYT &S BIREMEKE -

BEREFN

BE—_ZT—ZTFF+-_A=+—HILEFED
ERAFGFTE DR ERFEAKRR B KR
R A A FEIL & T # A R #260,558,0007T
(ZZTZThF: A R#133,469,0007T) & B
AT IR {9 BY 0 #E 15 20781,507,9778% (=
T T H, 4 ¢ 551,000,7270% ) °

AR EHZE_ZT—ZEF+_A=+—
B 1F /& F E SR E AR N EFES
BHBENREEEEAER T+
F+ANBEKRMEE - M BA1,0000
— AP 2 3F (F & R M 5E26() B9 52
R ERET(EE R M E26(9) 5%
B -

HRBE_E—ZFF+_A=+—8H1
MEFEYEBEHEBRD BT E
EIHEEFERAEF -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BRIRAXZERERAF

16. W% - WERKE

Furniture,
fixtures
Plant and and office Motor Construction
Buildings  machinery equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BH - BE
HERBA
BT BER#EMW B RE EEIR &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
COST %
At 1 January 2009 R-ZZZNE—A—H 102,968 84,126 1,258 5,271 18,107 211,730
Addition relating to Changging ERAEARKRBEEEN
Dairy Acquisition (see note 27) WE (R E27) — — — 301 226,165 226,466
Additions NE — 66,070 3,141 3,530 55,468 128,209
Transfer E= 47,654 3,946 — — (51,600) —
Disposals HE (245) (442) (32) — — (719)
At 31 December 2009 R=ZEZENE
+=—A=+—8H 150,377 153,700 4,367 9,102 248,140 565,686
Additions RNE — 3,731 2,190 1,329 6,046 13,296
Transfer 87 17,328 11,371 1,851 60 (30,610) —
Disposals HeE (367) — — (1,443) = (1,810)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—F4F
+-RA=+—8 167,338 168,802 8,408 9,048 223,576 577,172
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION &t E
At 1 January 2009 RZZEENF—A—H 2,143 3,165 83 269 — 5,660
Provided for the year FREE 8,162 9,741 400 892 — 19,195
Eliminated on disposals S B 8 47) (104) (1) = — (162)
At 31 December 2009 RZZZTNEF
+-A=+—8 10,258 12,802 472 1,161 = 24,693
Provided for the period FREE 8,221 15,866 1,264 987 — 26,338
Eliminated on disposals o B 5 8 (305) = = (448) = (753)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—F4F
+=-A=+—8 18,174 28,668 1,736 1,700 — 50,278
CARRYING VALUES IR &
At 31 December 2010 RZE-—ZF
+=ZA=+—8 149,164 140,134 6,672 7,348 223,576 526,894
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNE
+=—A=+—8H 140,119 140,898 3,895 7,941 248,140 540,993
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, after taking into account of
their estimate residual values, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 8 years

The buildings shown above are situated on land use rights
in the PRC which are held by the Group under medium-
term lease.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group pledged its property,
plant and equipment with a carrying value of approximately
RMB43,192,000 to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group did not pledge any of its property, plant and
equipment to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group.

16. W% - WERKE(E)

ME BEERREHLMER  KER
TR A RE[MFRGEERR  RE
UATERREGENE

BF 204F
R 5 & 5% 104F
B BEEBERPEARME 54F
RE 84

LRAFRREBFMRTE - Ht AR
HAKREZTHEESAFA -

N—EBEEANF+-_F=+—H AEBIK
HEYWE BELEZE FEHEHOAA
R #43,192,0007T ' A B AREBERIRTT
FERRTEEER RZZE—ZF+
ZA=ET R KAEBEUAREFEAY
¥ BELERE UAKEEERMNIRE
TEERHER-
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 = F —FF+ = H = +—HILF 2
PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. AAHEER
2010 2009
—®2-BF —TThH
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE AR®ETR

Analysed for reporting purpose as: BHEBRAESTBAT:
— Non-current assets — ERDEE 38,451 39,555
— Current assets — RBEE 847 847
39,298 40,402
The amounts represent land use rights in respect of land ZESBENNTREZTHAEFE T
situated in the PRC and held under medium-term leases. HWEMERE L A - i BRERIE
Land use rights are released on a straight-line basis over + 3 A B AR BRPR 2 B B R T AR
the relevant terms of the land use rights certificate. K o
As at 31 December 2009, the Group pledged its land use RZEZNF+_A=+—"H xEEBEE
right with a carrying value of approximately RMB9,630,000 KHE+HERAE EREEELNAAR
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. #9,630,0007T * LA ARNEBEERIETE
As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not pledge any BERBTIEEER R F+=
of its land use right to secure banking facilities granted to A=+T—HB A&SBE W RERE M L
the Group. FAE UALXEBEERNETEER

HER -
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18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. B EE

Trademarks
[k
RMB'000
ARET T
COST 2N
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZENF—H—H 15,000
Acquired fromKEMAEFEMERBER AR WHEE—HEEARKEMALERETERE
(Daging City Dazheng Real Estate Development BRLAAE ([KREHFE]) (RHFE30 (a)
Co., Ltd*, “Dazheng Real Estate”) (see note 30 KHt3E30 (b))
(@) and note 30 (b)), a related company 200
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 RZEBEZNF+_A=+—H8BXK
—T—ZFTF+_-_H=+—H 15,200
AMORTISATION # 8
At 1 January 2009 —ZEENF—H—H 625
Amortisation for the year N 1,520
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNF+=ZA=+—H 2,145
Amortisation for the year EAAE: ¥ 1,520
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZTF+=-A=+—H 3,665
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZEF+=ZA=+—H 11,535

At 31 December 2009

R-BEAET=A=+—8

13,055

g The English name is for identification purpose only. & HEXEFEHRHT -
The amounts were amortised on a straight-line basis over ZESEIRIBI0FHRIZE G EHE -

a period of 10 years.
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following are the Group’s major deferred tax assets

2010 R

19. EEHEBEEERER

ATRAKEEREMFER LBFED

BRIRAXZERERAF

(liabilities) recognised and the movements thereon, during HRANEENREEE(BBE)REZE:
the current and prior years:
Timing Withholding
difference Fair value tax on
on expenses adjustments undistributed
recognition on acquisition dividend Total
BABXH (g 13 RDE
REEZRE AFEAR REENH et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TrT AR®Tr ARET:R
At 1 January 2009 RZZETNhE—HF—H — 13,757 5,090 18,847
Charge (credit) to profit or loss KRB M GTA) — (1,412) 6,463 5,051
At 31 December 2009 and RZZEZEAF+=-A=+—H
1 January 2010 k=ZZ—-ZF—-H—H = 12,345 11,553 23,898
Credit to profit or loss RE&EFTA (3,441) (938) — (4,379)
At 31 December 2010 R-E-—ZFF+-_A=+—H (3.441) 11,407 11,553 19,519
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MEWNGEETBERRARMS » 5 TERIE

statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

MEEEMBECEEN - LTHIIH
5 75 e o5 T A 2 O R ST B IR A R o0 AT

purpose:
2010 2009
—E-TF —ZTITAF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETTT
Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 3,441 —
Deferred tax liabilities RELERIEEE (22,960) (23,898)
(19,519) (23,898)
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(continued)

In accordance to PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan [2008] 112)
effective from 1 January 2008, PRC withholding income
tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends to be
payable by the Company’s PRC operating subsidiaries based
on their profits generated from 2008 onwards to “non-
resident” investors who do not have an establishment or
place of business in the PRC. According to the “"Agreement
between the Government of the People’s Republic of
China and the Government of the Republic of Singapore
for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of
fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income”, where the
Singapore resident company directly owns at least 25% of
the capital of the PRC company, 5% dividend withholding
tax rate is applicable.

Pursuant to the resolution of board of Global Milk
Singapore, the shareholder of Daging Dairy, Global Milk
Singapore has given an irrevocable undertaking that Global
Milk Singapore will not procure Daging Dairy to remit any
dividend out of its profits for the year ending 31 December
2010. Accordingly, the net profit of Daging Dairy, the
Group's principal operating subsidiary, for the year ending
31 December 2010 will be retained and not be distributed.
At 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of temporary
difference associated with undistributed earnings of Daging
Dairy was approximately RMB272,468,000 for which
deferred tax liability has not been recognised. No liability
has been recognised in respect of this amount because the
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will neither reverse nor subject to
withholding tax in the foreseeable future.

19.

EEHBREEREE(E)

AR 4% H B 7 75 38 &0 (B R (K [2008]1125%)
—EE)N\F—A—BE EFEEARX
RUBBREESINIEERIKES
HRE(BRARARPELEEWEQRIE
—TEENFEZBAEREANABREEST ML
10%HRELWPBHENAESE - BIR
(R EE N R £ A0 B BAT A0 0 3 K F0 B
BT R Y AT 15 8 S & S - A B LE fa
RBENBE) WFNMEERAGEERE
BEHRERQRRAZE P25% - Bl E A A
BIEMBEHER% °

18 # Global Milk Singapore#) & & & k3%
X K E I & MW & E Global Milk
Singapore fE {f “~ A # [E & F - Global
Milk Singapore§ T EEEHE—_ZT—F
F+_A=+-—HLEFERNELERM
BE-Alt  AEENFTEZEENBAQ
AAEILRBREENRBE-Z—ZF
TZA=+—HLEFEMNEFTFHIK
R_E-—ZF+_A=+—HBH BXE
ImADRRBFMEBANEREZ8QL
AREBERECEHEBER AARK
272,468,0007T M P 7N & & AT 4% il £ [
TREZENRE MZSE8EBENA
ABRTEHE AW ERZS TR
EZHBEREAE -
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2010 2009
—E-ZTF5 Z—ZEThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTT
Raw materials & Ak 9,961 8,907
Finished goods X oh 10,258 15,542
20,219 24,449

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2. EWESRARAREMERRE

2010 2009
—E-ZTF _—ZTTAF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARE®TT ARETTT
Trade receivables U E 5 R a 10,525 12,853
Advances to suppliers ) fit FE 7 E K b 3,905 3,926
Prepayments B A 835 6,706

Amount due from Daging WK EBERKIE c
Baixinyuan (see note 30 (a)) (R Mt 5£30(a)) 251 251
Others EAh 195 469
15,711 24,205

Notes: B 2

(a) Trade receivables

The trade receivables as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December
2010 comprise amounts receivable from the sales of goods.

No interest is charged on the trade receivables.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group gathers and
assesses the credit information of the potential customer in
considering the customer’s quality and determining the credit limits
for that customer.

(@ EREZERX

R—FBEAF+_A=Z+—HE=-F—F
ToA=t+ - RANELESERREEHER

o JE R -

FEWE 5 BR R I & AR e

S
«
=

EWMHEPH AKRERERFHEERTP
MEEER UEEREPHWEEEER M
NETEEEREE -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Notes: (continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 days to
its trade customers. The aged analysis of the Group’s trade
receivables presented based on invoice date as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

2. EWESRAREMERIRE
(4&)

Wit -

(a)

FEWE SRR (F)

AEE-RAEBHEFH T FHEEDH0
R-RBEHR AEBARERAHEIW
FEWE 5 AR BRIk AT AR T -

2010 2009

—2-2fF —ZEENF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR TR ARETFTT

Within 30 days 30HA 10,525 12,804
Over 30 days but within one year 30HEZE—F R — 49
10,525 12,853

Aging of the Group’s trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired are as follows:

K S5 [ 38 3 L S D1 0 0 R 55 B B
HHMT :

2010 2009

-2 -2fF —TENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T AREFTT

Over 30 days but within one year 30HE—&F — 49

The Group did not provide any allowance on the remaining past
due receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable based on
the historical experience. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

(b) Advances to suppliers
The amounts mainly comprise deposits for purchase of raw
materials. As at 31 December 2009, out of the Group’s total
outstanding balance of RMB3,926,000, an amount of
RMB1,646,000 (2010: nil) represented an advance to lJintianran
Dairy (see note 30 (a)).

(o) Amount due from Daging Baixinyuan

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand.

(b)

(c)

AN 5 [ B AR TS A8 R MR OR IR A
DREEERVEEREY  HLHRBREB
ETHMRAATER - AEEIL Ep XS
EHRBAEMNERS -

2] 5% FE 785 28 3K
ZECHRIBZEREREREHNRE N2
NE+TZA=t—RB AEEREELEHLZ
A K %3,926,0007T ° HF A R #1,646,000
TARERAILENBR(RME30@) -
EWXERERRE

ZERERR 25 AREREE-
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22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITEHRRRE
As at 31 December 2010, the Group's bank balances carry R-E—ZFF+-_A=+—8 X&EEBEH
market interest rate of 0.36% per annum (2009: 0.36% RITHEBRBRTHFENE036%T (ZEF
per annum). NEF - FHZE0.36%) °
The Group’s bank balances and cash denominated in REBRNRTEREREEAES SR
currencies other than functional currency of the relevant NEIKENRE BRI EBESTERT
group entities were as follows:
2010 2009
—E-FF5 Z—TTAF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT AR®TR

Currency: B

usD ) 2,483 1,441
SGD #1 7T 550 523
HKD BT 9,897 —
The Group’s bank balances and cash denominated in RMB AEBBTEBRASEARBFE -
are not a freely convertible currency in the international REBEMIZEERLBRER - PEIFI
market. The remittance of RMB out of the PRC is subject A R SRZE B B BT E MR SN E
to exchange restrictions imposed by the Government of PR ) o

the PRC.



126

for the year ended 31 December 2010 & % — &

®

Global Dairy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. ENEZRARRHEALEN R

2010 2009
—E-Z2F5 Z—ZTIThF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR¥®TT ARBTT
Trade payables e B 55k IE a 5,955 5,554
Advances from customers BRE#R b 36,571 11,835
Amount due to Mr Zhao JE F i %5 A BB c — 90
Amount due to Dazheng Real FERTBE AR KIEFE KA d
Estate, a related company (see ( R Bt 5£30(a))
note 30 (a)) 200 200
Payable on acquisition of property, W% % - B 5 & & # &+
plant and equipment: TRIE
— REMAEBELZEBERAT — BAEQAARNEMANIERZE d
(Daging City Dazheng Building ZERBERAT(KIERE
Installation Co., Ltd.*, “Dazheng £ (R K #E30()
Building”), a related company
(see note 30 (a)) 7,255 7,244
— Others — Hftb 21,573 22,561
28,828 29,805
Other tax payables H At JE 718 e 19,824 8,610
Accrued expenses EET X 18,857 10,130
Others A 1,253 376
111,488 66,600

The English name is for identification purpose only.

* RXEBERZS
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(d)

(e)

Trade payables

The Group’s trade payables principally comprise amounts
outstanding for trade purchases. Payment terms with suppliers are
on an average credit period of 30 days from the time when the
goods are received from suppliers.

The aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables presented based

23. ENEBESZERIFAREMENRE

(4)

EZ

(a)

FEf$ & 5 KR
FEBEENEZREFRIEZRFELAIRERE

ES
BRE - HERAZNRHNRABREHER
EmERREF FIEEH0A8 -

AEEREZAH2INNEMNESERRH

on invoice date as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: EHARNBRERDITAT
2010 2009
—E2-2F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Within 30 days 30HA 5,955 3,244
Over 30 days but within one year 30HEZE—F R — 2,273
Over one year i — — 37
5,955 5,554
Advances from customers (b) EFEBX
The amounts mainly comprise deposits for supply of goods to ZECHIZOERPAHEERINZE -
customers.
Amount due to Mr Zhao (c) BE A 52 £ RRIE
The amount was interest-free, unsecured and was repayable on ZESHRS BEARKREREERE - ZE
demand. The amount was fully settled during the year ended 31 CHER_ZT—ZEFF+_A=+T—HEHL
December 2010. =g
Amount due to Dazheng Real Estate/Payable on acquisition d) ENAEEERE WBAEEENWE-
of property, plant and equipment to Dazheng Building BE R RGN RE
The amounts are interest-free, unsecured and are repayable on ZESHELLS  BEW AREREE-
demand.
Other tax payables (e) HitERBiE

As at 31 December 2010, included in the Group’s other tax
payables is an amount of approximately RMB15,377,000 (2009:
RMB6,553,000) related to value added tax payable.

R-E—FE+-_A=1+—80 KAEEHEAM
EAHEREREEMEENARAONRE €
A ARMI5377,000 (ZTETAF AR
#6,553,000) °
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24. BORROWINGS 24, B
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZZETAF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 ARETT AR®ETT
Bank borrowings R AT B K a
— Secured — BEHA b — 30,000
— Unsecured — IR 100,000 170,000
100,000 200,000
Loans from Investors REKEENER d
(as defined in note 26 (d)) ( R Bt 3£ 26(d)) — 102,275
100,000 302,275
Carrying amounts repayable: JEEEREE :
— On demand or within one year — EZERKFNKR —FRK — 302,275
— More than one year, but not — BBE—FERARNERN
exceeding two years — —
— More than two year, but not — BBWNFERAEFA
exceeding five years 100,000 —
100,000 302,275
Less: Amounts due within one year & : B BEERB AR
shown under current liabilities —FRNIHNEE — (302,275)
100,000 —
Notes: HaE
(@) The Group’s bank borrowings carry effective interest rate per (@ AEENRITERERFNRLOT:
annum as follows:
2010 2009
e —ERhE
% %
Effective interest rates: BERF = :
Fixed rates interest borrowings & 7 F| = 18 5% 5.3 5.3-7.3
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24. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Secured bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2009, the Group pledged certain of its
property, plant and equipment (see note 16) and its land use rights
(see note 17) to secure the bank borrowing of RMB30,000,000.

Unsecured bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2009, bank borrowing of RMB40,000,000 was
guaranteed by Dazheng Building (see note 30 (a)), and bank
borrowing of RMB100,000,000 was guaranteed by Daging
Baixinyuan (see note 30 (a)). These borrowings were settled during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

As at 31 December 2009, bank borrowing of RMB30,000,000 was
guaranteed by third parties. The borrowing was settled during the
year ended 31 December 2010.

As at 31 December 2010, bank borrowings of RMB100,000,000
were guaranteed by a third party and are repayable wholly in 2013.

Loans from Investors (as defined in note 26 (d))

As at 31 December 2009, the amounts represented loans of S$21
million (equivalent to RMB102,275,000) granted by the Investors on
20 November 2009 which was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on 28 February 2010. Processing fee of 2% of the
principal loan amount is payable to the Investors. Immediately prior
to 28 February 2010, being the maturity date of the loans, Mr
Zhao and one of the Investors repaid the loan and processing fee
of $$9.87 million and S$11.55 million, respectively for and on

behalf of the Company (see note 28 (a)).

During the year ended 31 December 2010, loans of S$15.75 million
(equivalent to RMB76,514,000) (“Second Loan”) were granted by
the Investors under Second Series Funding Agreement on 28
January 2010 (“SSFA”). Pursuant to the SSFA and the supplementary
agreement dated 10 May 2010, the loans were unsecured and
borne interest at the rate of 10% per annum. Processing fee of 2%
of the principal loan amount had been paid to the Investors. The
loans were fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Bt -

(b)

()

(d)

24. fER(E)

(%)

C 35 7 88 1T B =K

R-FEAE+=A=+—0 AEEER
Ry BERRE K16 R L
R W BE17) - DU BB AT B KA R
30,000,0007T °

BB RTHER

R-ZTTNAE+=_A=+—8 ' RITIEXRA
R #40,000,000;t B A EZEREERR
Bt £30(a) - T 4R 17 f& B A K #100,000,000
TRAIRAEBERREEERRMNFE30aG) -
ZEEBERERBE_TE—TF+=_A=1+—
HIEFEER -

RZTETAF+ZA=+—8 RITERA
R #30,000,000;tHE=FIRHtER - 22
BRERBE=_T—ZTE+=-_A=+—8B1
FEMEE-

i
R #100,000,0007C i1
R-ZB—="F2HEE -

—ZEF+ZA=+—H RITEXA
=SHRHEER XA

REREENENR(R K E26(d)

RZZEZTAE+_A=+—H ZELHEK
BEARZZZENGE+-A=-+ERLER
218 & % (B W A R #102,275,0007T) °
ZESHEEER 28 ARZZT-TF-
AZt+NBEE BNEEENFEEAAR
SR2% BB -TF-_A=-+/\HAD
BEHRE Jﬁﬂa>ﬁ~t%$&f%¢%>§%ﬁf&
REARBHFIEEERRFEEISTEE
i R11.558 B & (R E28 @) °

REEZ i¢+ A=+—HLFE -
BB AR — T A=+ \BREF=
£ mﬂﬁﬁ%m((ssw)&:ﬁ%ms 758 B
BEE RN ARKT76514000)([F -5 &
F) o RIESSFAR —E—ZFAA+HBOR
FetneE c ZENEERR  RI0% 8 FF R

o FEBANGHBEN2%EIMNTRES -
aiﬁ,\ AERBE_T—TF+=-_R=1+—
ALtEER2HEE -
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25. SUBSCRIPTION MONEY RECEIVED

As at 31 December 2009, the amount represents the
subscription consideration amounting to S$21 million
(equivalent to RMB102,275,000) received from the
Investors, which has been subsequently settled by the
issuance of shares of the Company (see note 26 (d)).

Pursuant to the investment agreement entered into
between the Company and the Investors, the subscription
price for the shares shall be based on 6 times price
earnings ratio of the Group’s net profit after tax (“NPAT")
for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 on the
bases of a deemed NPAT of RMB100 million.

Should NPAT for the financial year ended 31 December
2009 is less than RMB95 million, the Company shall
provide for price abetment based on the actual NPAT to
be refunded to each Investors.

As the NPAT of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2009 is larger than RMB100 million, no price
abetment was made.

Further, in the event that the NPAT for the year ended 31
December 2010 is less than RMB200 million and the listing
of the Company on the Stock Exchange or any other stock
exchange acceptable to the Investors has not been
completed, the Investors shall be entitled to renegotiate
the subscription price for the shares.

As the NPAT of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010 is larger than RMB200 million and the
shares of the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange on 28 October 2010, no price abetment was
made.

25.

ELEN A

R-ZBEERAE+-_A=+—RH %%
HERDMEEENRBERE  ©5HE2
BEFE(EERAR102,275,0007T)
EEBSBARRBITRMEE(RK
26(d)) °

REBEARAREREEFITINEREWZ
BORBESEREAKERE_TT
NFT-A=+t—HLUBRFERKRR
mAM(HERAENDWETRXRGE - &
ERBERRAMNAREI00BET -

HEE—FTFTAF+_A=1t—BL1LH
BEEBREEMNERARKESBSEE T
ARRRHERBREZKREENER
W& AL B A BB R -

HRBE_TEENF+_A=+—81
FEHEBDGNSAAREKIO0BE T &
WEENBELD

ZH HBEE-_E-—TF+_A=1+—
BIEFEREANERARE2008ET
&% & & 1 R 72 B3 R 2 R) 70 B A2 PR
SEMEMRZ LM AIREEREER
RENAZEROIAEBE-

HRAEBEHE-_ZTE—ZTF+_A=+
—HBIEFEHEBZGFSRARK2008 8
TRARAROHER-ZE—ZFF+A -+
J\BTEB: X BT BT+ &R 30 £ B A R (B D

R
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number of
shares Share capital
v 4=| [N
HK$'000
FAT
Ordinary shares AR
Authorised: ERE
REMKZIBHER=ZFZ
On date of incorporation and as at nFE+=—A=+—8UK
31 December 2009 and —E2—ZTF—H—H
1 January 2010 (HK$0.01 each) (#10.01%8 7T) 38,000,000 380
Subdivision of shares on 3 February 2010 R—Z—Z& - A=HH KK
(HK$0.00001 each) 1% (8 }%0.000017% 7T) 37,962,000,000 —
At 31 December 2010 W-ZZT—-ZTHF+_A=+—H 38000000000 380
Number of
shares Share capital
KRG EE [N
HK$'000 RMB'000
THELT AR%®Trx
Issued: BT
1 share allotted and issued on date of M sEff A B HA 2 B 3 M B 1T KO
incorporation 1 B 1 1 — —
Issue of shares on acquisition of Global 4§ & Global Milk Singapore & 8 17 i {3
Milk Singapore 550 — —
At 31 December 2009 and RZBZNFF_A=+—HEK
1 January 2010 (HK$0.01 each) —E-ZF—-F—HH\KR.01ET) 551 — —
Subdivision of shares on 3 February RZZE—TF-A=AHKERK
2010 (HK$0.00001 each) (8 120.000017% 7T) 550,449 — —
Issue of shares on 4 February 2010 RZE-ZTF-ANBETRR 191,000 — =
Issue of shares on 24 March 2010 RZZE—ZEF=F_+WEZETRAG 15,879 = —
Issue of shares on Capitalisation Issue RZZE—ZF+H+H
on 10 October 2010 BRMeBETRETRD 757,122,121 8 7
Issue of shares on Listing on 28 RZZE—ZEFTAZ+NH
October 2010 ETEEITRG 252,620,000 2 2

At 31 December 2010 R-E—ZFF+-_A=1+—H 1,010,500,000 10 9
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
ordinary share capital during the period from 15 October
2009 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2010 are as
follows:

(a

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 15 October 2009 with an authorised share
capital of HK$380,000, divided into 38,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company. At
the date of incorporation, one share of HK$0.01 was
allotted and issued fully paid at par to a third party,
which was subsequently transferred to Mr Zhao.

On 15 October 2009, Mr Zhao transferred his 100%
shareholding in Global Milk Singapore to the
Company pursuant to a share sale and purchase
agreement at the same date in consideration of the
Company issuing 550 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each in the Company, credited as fully paid, to Mr
Zhao.

On 3 February 2010, each ordinary share of HK$0.01
in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company was subdivided into 1,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.00001 (the “Share Subdivision”) such that
its resultant authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 38,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.00001 each in the Company and its resultant
issued share capital was HK$5.51 divided into
551,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each in the
Company.

On 4 February 2010, pursuant to an investment
agreement dated 20 November 2009 (the “Investment
Agreement”) entered into among certain investors
(the “Pre-IPO Investors”), Mr Zhao CW, Mr Zhao and
the Company, the Company issued an aggregate of
127,829 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each in the
Company to the Pre-IPO Investors, for a consideration
of 5$21.0 million (equivalent to RMB102,275,000).

& NG

ARBEEREHETEBRRAR-ZE
NETA+TABGEMRZIBEH Z-F—
EE+_A=t—HEAEZ

€)

=
=

FENIAT ¢

ARBRZBEENF+ATHEARHE
SHEFMRY EEATERAE
380,000/ 7T + 93 4 282 F)38,000,000
B @ A% - B R%0.0178 T - R f
R BE - —ROOIB TR MGIZE
BTN ERERETT
—RE=F HEBEETHELE -

RZZEZNF+ATHRB  EE&E
BERAAFTVNROHE B HEEE
H 7 GlobalMilk Singapore # 2 2B A%
BTARAE RERAQAMBEEL
A 21T E B ERG508% - ABR B IR
KERR0.01E T ©

R-ZE—ZFF_A=H,ARaEF
&E%’éﬂﬂxmh - IR B X E{E0.01
BT DI AE1,0000K @A 0 B
0.00001B L[l HIFM]) » AR
A H & 7% F I% 380,000 T o &
38,000,000,0000% & i A% - %
0.000018 7t ' MARARHEBET
B ZX5.517% JT o £&551,000/% & &
f% » & M0.00001% JT °

R-ZE—ZF-_ANABE - BEFT
BEE((ERAHBEENKREE]
HEXLE  BEERARARZ
EENE+—A=-THIIREW
é*(r%ﬁﬁfﬁ%éﬂéb RAFE BB IR
Fﬁ%ﬁéﬁau & EBITAE G
127 829% ¥ B A% - & 1%0.000017%
CREE2I0BEHTEFHEERA
EM102,275,000n)
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(e)

Pursuant to a share subscription agreement dated 20
November 2009 entered into between the Company
and Mr Zhao, on 4 February 2010, the Company
issued an aggregate of 63,171 ordinary shares of
HK$0.00001 each to Mr Zhao, for a consideration of
RMB125,000,000.

On 24 March 2010, pursuant a second series funding
agreement entered into between the Company and
the Investors, the Company issued an aggregate of
15,879 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each to the
Investors for a consideration of S$$5.25 million
(equivalent to RMB 25,505,000) (“Subscription
Consideration”).

Pursuant to the written resolutions of all shareholders
entitled to vote at general meetings of the Company,
which were passed on 10 October 2010, an amount
of approximately HK$7,571.22 standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company was
capitalised and applied to pay up in full at par a
total of 757,122,121 new shares for allotment and
issue to the shareholders of the Company whose
names appeared on the register of members of the
Company on 9 October 2010 (the “Capitalisation
Issue”) and details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Further Information about the
Group — Written resolutions of the Shareholders
passed on 10 October 2010” in Appendix VI”
Statutory and General Information” to the Prospectus.

On 28 October 2010, the Company issued
252,620,000 new shares of HK$0.00001 each at
issue price of HK$4.39 per share pursuant to the
Listing of the Company’s shares.

All of the shares issued by the Company during the period
subsequent to the date of incorporation of the Company
rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all
respects.

2010 F3 RIRAXZERERAF

& NG

(e)

N
%
B

o S W
4 H+> _I

BEARAEBEEER_ZZTNF
+—A-+ BB HRE RS
R-ZZF-—FF_AWAB - ARAD
M A EEITEF63171 TR
FR%0.00001B T REA AR
125,000,0007T ©

NRZE-—FF=F_F+WMABE - BE
ARBEEEETLNE XY@
B ARRDMEEERTA
§+15,879H§%3EH§ » F i%0.000017%8
REAS2EEBHEHEERA
E’ﬁ%zs 505,0007C)([RERE]D -

BEEERARTIBRERE ERE
MNEEREN-_ZT—ZF+ATH
BRAMEMAZRE X270 K5 %
BRMERTE A ELN7571.228 T
MEBEEANL X AEREAES
B A H757122, 121 FH & 5 AR
—E—ZFTF+ANBEBIERRT
% 3R & i ) A &) B R A B K B AT
TEXRLET) - BEFBEHARA
BRERKSEADEER —RER]H
[(EEAEENEMER — &RMH
BRER—ZE—ZF+ATHBAED

EmrZER] K-

+

AZE—ZEFF+A=+NH " RE
KRRz £ NRAR BT
B & 1%4.397% JT % 17252,620,000%
£ A% [ {50.0000178 7T &I 31 I 1D

=

AIREFMA BEZBAREZET
HEERREROGAMETEZ
== B o
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27. ACQUISITIONS OF CHANGQING DAIRY, A 27. WEEAAGINBAREEI ¥
SUBSIDIARY OF THE COMPANY
On 16 November 2009, Daging Dairy entered into an RZZEERFE+ A+ <A REI®
equity transfer agreement with J&BEI& (Mr Pan Xiao Feng, HEBELEE(TELEED I RESEE
“Mr Pan”) whereby Daging Dairy acquired from Mr Pan his W Bt KEILRMBELTERER
entire equity interests in Changging Dairy for a cash REBAEZEN 2 PRAEZ  Be AKX
payment of RMB10,000,000. Subsequent to this transaction A AN R #10,000,0007T - ARG RE
completed on 16 November 2009 (“Changging Dairy ZENE+—AT+AABUEEIALZERERD
Acquisition Date”), Changging Dairy became a wholly TEKE REIIERAREIREEW
owned subsidiary of Daging Dairy. B e
Details of net assets acquired relating to the Changging £ B %L%Hﬁl BEHEMFEBEAETE
Dairy Acquisition are as follows: BWT
RMB'000
ARBF T
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 226,466
Prepaid lease payments TERNHEERIE 9,630
Other receivables E b fiE W FR IR 1,824
Bank balances and cash RITHEARRE S 42,908
Other payables H {th /B 3R 18 (18,720)
Long-term payable due to Daging Dairy HERRKEIGHRBEMSRIE (202,489)
Interest payable to Daging Dairy R REIMAE (9,619)
Bank borrowings RITREK (40,000)
10,000
Consideration paid BENRE 10,000
Net cash inflow arising from acquisition of WIESEBEIEESR SR A FE:
Changqing Dairy:
Bank balances and cash acquired BRERTEHRER S 42,908
Less: Consideration paid B E (10,000)
32,908

As at Changging Dairy Acquisition Date, Changging Dairy
had not commenced its business and the production
facility was still under construction. As such, the
Changging Dairy Acquisition was regarded as an asset
acquisition.

REBIXKRER FEIXIRFASH
ﬁ%i}’& MEBELEERBNHERZES -
Hit - FEAXUBERA—REENE -
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28. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following significant non-cash
investing and financing activities which are not reflected in
the consolidated statements of cash flow:

a. Immediately prior to 28 February 2010, being the
maturity date of the loans granted by the Investors
under the Investment Agreement, Mr Zhao and one
of the Investors (“One Investor”) repaid the loans of
$$21,000,000 (approximately RMB102,275,000, which
is RMB 102,018,000 after adjustment of exchange
gain) and the 2% processing fee payable of
S$420,000 (approximately RMB2,040,000) for and on
behalf of the Company (see note 24 (d)). Mr Zhao
and One Investor repaid $$9,870,000 (approximately
RMB47,948,000) and S$11,550,000 (approximately
RMB56,110,000), respectively. Accordingly, there are
amounts due to Mr Zhao of RMB47,948,000 and
One Investor of RMB56,110,000.

b. Pursuant to the SSFA dated 28 February 2010, the
Investors would advance Second Loan of
S$15,750,000 (note 24 (d)) and pay Subscription
Consideration to subscribe 15,879 ordinary shares at
total consideration of $$5,250,000 (note 26 (f)). The
Investors charged the Group S$$210,000 processing
fee in advance which represented portion of 2% on
the Second Loan as stated in the SSFA. Accordingly,
the total proceeds to be received by the Group
under the SSFA would be $$20,790,000.

The One Investor paid the Company a sum of
$$9,240,000 (approximately RMB44,888,000) for
itself and on behalf of the other Investors towards
the loans under SSFA. Further, the amount of
$$11,550,000 (approximately RMB56,110,000) owed
to One Investor as described in (a) above was settled
by applying this amount towards the remaining
Second Loan of S$$6,300,000 (after deduction of
processing fee of $$210,000) and Subscription
Consideration of $$5,250,000.
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28. FBEEXRH

AEEEET ML AERERERE
RARMNEAFRENERBE LS :

BE_FZ-—TF-_A -+ \B (A%
BEERBREHRERDE RN
Al BAEER—RIEESE (%A
BEEZEDREREARTDAIEE
B 3£21,000,000%7 ¥ (4 A R #
102,275,0007T @ & EE H =5 1%
Bl & A K #102,018,0007T) & 2% Y
F B B420,00051 B(H A R &
2,040,0007T) (R Bt 5E24(d)) - # %
ERZAEREEDREEERRTF
& #9,870,000%T B (4 A R ¥
47,948,0007T) X11,550,000 %7 ¥ (49
A R #56,110,0007T) ° A It » 9 B
EHEEERZBAREEARE
47,948,0007TC & A R ¥56,110,000
-

BEHHA-ZT—ZFF_-_A_-+N
HEISSFA - B EEBBHEE £ 5
3X15,750,000%T & (B 5E (24(d)) I LA
4 7 B R 85,250,000 ¥ 7 B
15,879 0% & 18 B (B 7¥26(f) - /&
& T8 5t m 2N £ B EX210,000%7 ¥ &Y
FEE  QISSFAFTME — £ B8R
2%E8 5D o A It - AN 5 E AR #5 SSFA
BB S RERES
20,790,000 3 #& -

ZEREEREAIRRREMI
& EFLSSFATE N E A AR A X
A #£9,240,000%1 ®(H A R
44,888,0007T) ° 4N RAF E X (a)
Fr it 3% 4 1% & & #) 3T 11,550,000
(%) A R #56,110,0007T) B #%
BT 5 — B 5 %86,300,00057 &
(& F 4 £210,000% ) & &
B R (85,250,000 & H R & -
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28. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (continued)

C. As described in (a) above, Mr Zhao repaid
$$9,870,000 (approximately RMB47,948,000) on
behalf of the Company. RMB10,132,000 was applied
to settle subscription money receivable from Mr
Zhao. The Company then repaid the remaining

RMB37,816,000 to Mr Zhao.

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
PRC Government. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of its payroll costs to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions under the

scheme.

The amounts of contributions made by the Group in
respect of the retirement benefit scheme during the year

ended 31 December 2010 are disclosed in note 11.

28.

29.

FRRERF(E
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Related parties of the Group

The directors of the Company consider that the
following entities are related parties of the Group:

Name of related party

Mr Zhao CW (note (i) below)

Dazheng Building (note (i) below)

Daging Baixinyuan (note (i) below)

Dazheng Real Estate (note (ii) below)

Mr Zhao (note (i) below)

Mr Xia Yuan Jun (note (iii) below)

Mr Pan (note (iii) below)

Jintianran Dairy (note (iii) below)

Changging Dairy (note (iii) below)

AEMBRARLEER AR (Daging Wan
Long Jiu Sheng Trading Co., Ltd.* “"Daqging
Wanlong”) (note (iv) below)

Global Dairy Products (Canada) Inc. (“Global
Dairy Canada”, note (v) below)

The English name is for identification purpose only.

Notes:

Mr Zhao CW, an executive director and Chairman of the
Company and the father of Mr Zhao (the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company), is the executive chairman of Sino
Construction Limited (“Sino Construction”). Mr Zhao CW
stepped down from the position as chief executive officer
of Sino Construction in April 2010. Sino Construction is
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
and Mr Zhao CW indirectly controls more than 30% of the
equity interest in Sino Construction. Dazheng Building and
Daging Baixinyuan are wholly owned subsidiaries of Sino
Construction.

Mr Zhao CW is the legal representative and the sole
director of and directly controls 20% of the equity interest
in Dazheng Real Estate.
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a)

Related parties of the Group (continued)

Mr Xia Yuan Jun, the executive director and Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, directly controlled 30%
of the equity interest in lJintianran Dairy prior to 23
December 2008 and Mr Pan, the former executive director
of Daging Dairy, was the executive director and legal
representative of Jintianran Dairy between 19 December
2008 and 26 December 2009. Mr Pan was also the sole
shareholder and legal person representative of Changging
Dairy from 7 August 2008 (date of establishment) to
Changging Dairy Acquisition Date. Jintianran Dairy ceased to
be related party of the Group on 27 December 2009 and
accordingly, the consolidated financial statements do not
disclose the transactions between the Group and lJintianran
Dairy subsequent to 27 December 2009 as related party
transactions.

Ms Cao Yan Xia (BH28) and Mr Li Zhan Jun (=& FE)
directly controlled 100% of the equity interest eligible to
vote at general meetings of Daging Wanlong as to 2% and
98%, respectively. Ms Cao Yan Xia is the sister of Madam
Cao Yan Ming who is the mother of Mr Zhao, the
controlling shareholder, executive director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and Mr Li Zhan Jun is Ms
Cao Yan Xia's husband.

Mr Zhao, the executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, is a director of Global Dairy Canada and
Madam Cao Yan Ming (“Madam Cao”), Mr Zhao's mother,
controls all the shares eligible to vote at general meetings
of Global Dairy Canada.
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30. BERXRZ(#E)

(continued)
(b) Significant related party transactions (b) EXBEELRS
The Group has the following transactions with AEBRBE_ZE—ZF+_HA=
related parties during the two years ended 31 T—RIEMEFEEBEES AN
December 2010: TRG:
2010 2009
—E-ZTF5 "ZThF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Sales of raw materials to: [ AT & 75 85 & R KL
— Jintianran Dairy — T ARIE — 17,001
Sales of scrap materials to: A TNE T EEER
— Daging Baixinyuan — REBER — 251
Loans granted to: MR TEFREER:
— Changging Dairy (note (i) below) — — ®EZL% (& XM () — 52,489
Interest charged to: AT &7 WA &
— Changging Dairy (note (i) below) — — HEZL % (& T XM () — 8,088
Purchase property, plant and MUATELTWREDE  BER
equipment from: B
— Dazheng Building — KRIE#ER — 10,358
Purchase of trademark from: MATEFEZNEEE
— Dazheng Real Estate — RERHE — 200
Purchase of whole milk powder from: R T&H HKBE2IEDH
— Jintianran Dairy — & KA —_ 33,380

Licence fee paid to:
— Global Dairy Canada
(note (ii) below)

FIATED XFFAE:
— Global Dairy Canada
(R 3 M =)
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Significant related party transactions
(continued)

(i) The amounts represent the loans granted to and the related
interest charged to Changging Dairy prior to the Changging
Dairy Acquisition.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group paid
licence fee of HK$1.00 to Global Dairy Canada in respect of
the right to use the name of Global Dairy Canada.

Other than the above, during the year ended 31
December 2010, Daging Wanlong granted an
interest-free and wunsecured advance of
RMB50,000,000 to the Company. The loan had no
fixed repayment term. The loan was fully settled
during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Balances with related parties

Saved as disclosed in notes 21, 23, 24 and 25 in
respect of balances with certain related parties, the
Group has no other outstanding balance with related
parties at the end of the reporting period.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of
key management were as follows:

30 BEARXRZ(E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EXBERIXRS(#E)

(i) ZECHEFTEILXRRENATEET
ERHMERREWRABNS

(i) HE-ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—8LHF
E - A% BEE 5t A Global Dairy
Canada % 7 #) # % [ Global Dairy
Canadas [ FF FI E #1.008 T °

BEXFREN RBRE-E—F
Fr-A=t—BLEE AER
FEPOEEEENE £3 00 2
A K #50,000,0007T ° % £ & 7 &
B LERBE-F—F

+oASt-RLEEEHRMEE -

B E 7R

B #E21 ~ 23 242581 T REE H
AN EERI Rk
KR AEEMEEBES L EAM
MABEREBNEHRRLS -
FTEESE AS FHH

EERESEEE MK E G
T -

2010 2009

—E-ZTHF —ZTTAF

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETTT

Salaries and allowances BN K2 F Bh 1,540 371
Retirement benefits scheme RAKTE F 5T 8] 3%

contributions 24 21

1,564 392

The remuneration of key management is determined
with reference to the performance to individuals and
market trends.

TEEREFMOI2REARER
MBEMmMER -
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31. COMMITMENTS

31.

2010 F3; RIRAXZEREBERAF

BEAREE

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had the following R-E—ZFF+-_A=+—8 X&EE#%
capital commitments: BUATERARE:
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETT
Capital expenditure in respect of ERAKNEME BEREKBD
acquisition of property, plant and BEARFAX
equipment
— contracted for but not provided — BRINERES
in the consolidated financial e e o N
statements 11,189 10,297
— authorised for but — ERBEERETY
not contracted for 298,580 —
309,769 10,297

On 19 November 2010, the Company’s made the following
announcement (the “Announcement”):

(@

The Board of Directors has resolved on 18 November
2010 to approve, inter alia, the investment in and
construction of a dairy farm (the “Group’s Dairy
Farm”) by Changging Dairy, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in Erhe Township which
is approximately 30 km north-east of Wuchang City
centre, Heilongjiang Province, the PRC (the “Project”).

The Company will use approximately HK$350.9
million of the net proceeds from the Hong Kong
public offer and International placing of the
Company’s shares to fund the Project which will
comprise approximately RMB300 million for the
acquisition of the land use rights of the requisite
parcel of land (including fees payable for the grant
of permission to occupy such land), the construction
of the Group’s Dairy Farm and the purchase of dairy
The Group will also invest approximately
RMB40 million for the construction of a bio-organic
fertilizers and bio-gas power generation facility for
the Group’s Dairy Farm.

COWSsS.

RZZF—ZFF+—H+NAB  A2FEH
Z

AT 2 (T
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ERBTEEREIEAETPLR
JEEAIZ0R BH) AR E R ER
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31. COMMITMENTS (continued) 31.

(b) In addition, Changging Dairy has on 3 November
2010 entered into a framework agreement with the
Wuchang Government, pursuant to which Changging
Dairy will be allowed to occupy 500 mu
(approximately 333,333 square meters) forested land
area located in Erhe Township.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’'s
Announcement dated 19 November 2010.

BERAE(E)

by W FEIAEER=ZE—ZTF+
—A=B 8K EmHMN &I LIEZER
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OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of

2010 F3; RIRAXZEREBERAF

BRARAHBRLROER

BERARBRNRERROT B AN KD

the Company at the end of the reporting period includes: BRI
2010 2009
—E-TF —_ZTTAF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries ABEANBIRE 1,101,183 —
Amount due from a subsidiary e U —FE M B A R 2 K18 — 318,776
1,101,183 318,776
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables FE UL E Z R 3 K B A E W 5K B 787 642
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 11,523 1
12,310 643
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade and other payables FE AT BR R K L th BB 1< BR 5K 3,587 286
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAS — R B ARl 2 3RIE 810 —
Borrowings f& — 102,275
Subscription money received B YEL R R IE — 102,275
4,397 204,836
NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) RBEEFH(ES) 7,913 (204,193)
1,109,096 114,583
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital & 7 9 —
Reserves & 1,109,087 114,583
1,109,096 114,583
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33. PARTICULARS OF THE COMPANY'S

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31
December 2010 are as follows:

33. ARNAMBRAAFE

W_F—FE+-A=+—0 ARFM

BREFHBNT:

Attributable equity
interest held by
the Company as at
31 December

AN E AR E
Place and date of Issued and fully Rt=A=+—-H
incorporation/ paid share capital/ 2010 2009
Name of the company establishment registered capital % % Principal activities
HEMARY, BRYBER ERTRBRE
DNRER B BAE, R E A TE-ZH ZBEAF ZEYPHE
Directly held by the Company
ARABEERE
Global Milk Singapore The Republic of S$1 100 100 Investment holding
Singapore 15 # REER
AN A0
15 September 2006
—EERFENATEHEHE
Indirectly held by the Company
AARIBERE
Daging Dairy* PRC RMB638,000,000 100 100 Manufacture, marketing and
ANEFLm* + AR sales of dairy products
29 October 1997 638,000,0007C AERBE MEHEER
—ANtEF+A &
—+hH
Changging Dairy** PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Manufacture, marketing and
EEFL + AR sales of dairy products
7 August 2008 10,000,0007T ABREE THEERR
—ZEZENFENALR HE
EEHFHEBEREL DA PRC RMB5,000,000 100 N/A Dairy farming
(Wuchang Benniu Muye Co., Limited®) A& AR TER AFER
25 November 2010 5,000,0007T
—T-ZTF+—A
—+AHB
# The English name is for identification purpose only. “ BXABEEER -
* Wholly foreign owned enterprise with limited liability. * BEREENEBERE -

** Private limited liability company.

*x WABREMERTA o
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